

OHIO TURNPIKE AND INFRASTRUCTURE COMMISSION

682 Prospect Street Berea, Ohio 44017

ADDENDUM NO. 3 Issued October 18, 2019

RFP No. 1 - 2019
REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS
TO FURNISH AND INTEGRATE A
TOLL COLLECTION SYSTEM ISSUED OCTOBER 4, 2019

ATTENTION OF RESPONDENTS IS DIRECTED TO:

Insert as Appendix C to the RFP

Issued by the Ohio Turnpike and Infrastructure Commission through Jennifer L. Stueber, General Counsel.

Jennifer L. Stueber, Esq.

General Counsel

10/18/19 Date Ohio Turnpike RFP No. 1 – 2019 To Furnish, Integrate and Maintain a Toll Collection System Addendum No. 3 $10/18/19\,$

RFP No. 1-2019 is hereby amended by attaching the form contract to Appendix C.

Please see attached form contract.

TOLL COLLECTION SYSTEM IMPLEMENTATION AND MAINTENANCE CONTRACT

BETWEEN

THE OHIO TURNPIKE AND INFRASTRUCTURE COMMISSION And



TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Recitals				
2.	D	Definitions	8		
3.	Α	Appendices to Contract	8		
4.	C	Contract Term and Renewal	9		
5.	S	Scope of Services, Generally	9		
6.	F	Firm Price Period.	9		
7.	Ν	Nanner of Performance	9		
	7.1	Reasonable Behavior	9		
	7.2	Contractor's General Responsibilities.	9		
	7.3	Performance Expectations1	0		
	7.4	Performance of Work Directed by the Commission Only1	0		
	7.5	Cooperation1	1		
	7.6	Project Access and Coordination1	1		
	7.7	Project Execution and Planning1	2		
8.	Т	ime of Performance1	3		
	8.1	Notice to Proceed1	3		
	8.2	Project Schedule1	3		
	8.3	Deliverable Schedule1	3		
	8.4	Suspension of Work1	3		
	8.5	Contractor Delays1	4		
9.	S	Submittals, the Commission Reviews and Approvals1	4		
	9.1	Submittal Procedures1	4		
	9.2	Accuracy1	4		
	9.3	Review Periods1	4		
	9.4	Extension of Time Periods1	4		
	9.5	Commission's Comments/Objections1	4		
	9.6	Contractor Review and Comments1	5		
	9.7	Limitations on Contractor's Right to Rely1	6		
10	. Ir	nspection and Testing1	7		
	10.	1 Failure to Pass Testing1	7		

10.2	Inspection of Work	17
11. Site (Conditions	17
11.1	Site Investigation.	17
11.2	Differing Site Conditions.	17
11.3	Notice of Differing Site Conditions.	18
12. Safet	y Precautions	18
13. Hard	ware/Equipment/Materials/Supplies	18
13.1	Equipment	18
13.2	Purchase Order Processing	19
13.3	Spare Parts Inventory	19
13.4	Quality Control	19
14. Defe	ctive Work	20
15. Risk	of Loss	20
16. Loss	of Revenue	20
16.1	Stale Transactions	20
16.2	Contractor Recommendation	21
17. Cont	ractor Personnel.	21
17.1	General	21
17.2	Contractor's Project Manager	21
17.3	Key Personnel	22
17.4	Commission's Right to Remove	22
18. Subc	ontracting	22
18.1	Subcontracting	22
18.2	Contractor Remains Responsible.	22
18.3	Mandatory Terms in Subcontracts	22
18.4	Timely Payments to Subcontractors.	23
18.5	Relationship of the Parties	23
18.6	[Joint Venture/Partnership	23
18.7	Removal of Subcontractor.	23
19. Payn	nent Terms	24
19.1	General.	24
19.2	Retainage	24
19.3	Invoicing	24

19.4	Withholding Payments	24
19.5	No Disruption of Work.	25
19.6	Overpayment	25
19.7	Full Compensation.	25
19.8	Final Systems Implementation	25
19.9	Payment not Acceptance	26
20. Cha	ange Orders/Modification of Scope of Services.	26
20.1	Definitions.	26
20.2	Allowable Changes	26
20.3	Ineligible Changes	27
20.4	Request for Quotation.	27
20.5	Request for Change.	27
20.6	Determination.	28
20.7	Disputed Work	28
20.8	Delay and Extension of Time.	28
20.9	Commission, Other's Delays.	29
21. Inte	ellectual Property	29
21.1	General	29
21.2	License	29
21.3	Ownership.	30
22. Wo	ork-for-Hire Product	31
23. Inte	ellectual Property Escrow	32
23.1	Delivery to Escrow Agent	32
23.2	Commission as Signatory.	33
23.3	Access and Inspection.	33
23.4	Survival of Escrow Agreement.	33
24. Dat	ta Access and Public Records	33
24.1	Data Ownership/ Access/ Security	33
24.2	Public Records.	33
25. Liq	uidated Damages.	34
25.1	Time of the Essence	34
25.2	Difficulty of Ascertaining Certain Damages	34
25.3	Closure of Lanes: Failure to Reopen.	35

25.4	No Waiver	35
25.5	Contractor and Surety Jointly and Severally Liable	35
26. Wa	rranties.	35
26.1	Warranties	35
26.2	Maintenance Warranty.	39
26.3	Additional Terms.	39
26.4	Third Party Warranties	39
26.5	Survival.	39
27. Wa	rranty Cure Process	39
27.1	Contractor Duty to Remedy	39
27.2	Extension of Time to Cure	39
27.3	The Commission Cure.	40
28. Ind	emnification	40
28.1	Generally.	40
28.2	Intellectual Property Indemnification.	41
28.3	Obligations Not Mutually Exclusive.	41
28.4	Waiver	41
28.5	Application; Survival	42
28.6	Indemnification Control.	42
29. Lim	nitation of Liability	42
30. [Inte	entionally Omitted]	42
31. Def	fault; Remedies	42
31.1	Events of Default.	42
31.2	Cure Period	44
31.3	Commission Damages/Remedies.	44
31.4	Commission Default	45
32. Ter	mination	45
32.1	Termination for Cause.	45
32.2	Termination for Convenience.	46
32.3	Pre-existing Liability.	46
32.4	Termination Procedures and Duties	46
33. Insi	urance	48
33.1	Requirements.	48

	33.2	Evidence of Insurance.	.48
	33.3.	Deductibles.	.49
	33.4	Additional Insured.	.49
	33.5.	Primary Coverage.	.49
	33.6.	Insurer Rating	.49
	33.7.	No Limitation.	.49
	33.8.	Purchase of Insurance	.49
	33.9	Notice of Occurrence:	.50
	33.10	Waiver of Subrogation.	.50
	33.11	Third Party Over	.50
3	4. Bon	ds	.51
	34.1	Performance and Payment Bond.	.51
	34.2	Maintenance Bond.	.51
	34.3	Bond Requirements.	.51
	34.4	Required Qualifications for Surety	.51
3	5. Rec	ords Retention and Audit Rights	.51
3(6. Gen	eral Provisions	.52
	36.1	Compliance with Laws.	.52
	36.2	Conflicts of Interest.	.52
	36.3	Non-Collusion.	.52
	36.4	Assignment	.52
	36.5	Parties Bound.	.52
	36.6	Force Majeure	.53
	36.7	Notices	.53
	36.8	Federal Intellectual Property Bankruptcy Protection Act	.53
	36.9	Governing Law and Venue	.54
	36.10	Publicity	.54
	36.11	Remedies Cumulative.	.54
	36.12	No Waiver	.54
	36.13	Severability	.55
	36.14	Taxes	.55
	36.15	No Third-Party Beneficiaries	.55
	36.16	Headings	

36.17	Counterparts.	55
36.18	Construction of Contract.	55
36.19	Survival.	55
36.20	No Exclusivity	55
36.21	Entire Contract; Amendment.	56
36.22	Severability	56
36.23	Interpretation of Agreement	56
36.24	Authority	56
APPENDI)	X A – SCOPE OF SERVICES	58
APPENDI)	X B – TECHNICAL PROPOSAL	59
APPENDI)	X C – PRICING SCHEDULE	60
APPENDI)	X D – PAYMENT MILESTONES	61
APPENDI)	X F – INSURANCE	62
EXHIBIT A	A – BILL OF SALE	66
EXHIBIT E	B – ESCROW AGREEMENT	67
EXHIBIT (C – CONTRACTOR'S NON-COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT	75

TOLL COLLECTION SYSTEM IMPLEMENTATION AND MAINTENANCE CONTRACT

This Toll Collection S	System Implemen	tation and Mainte	enance Co	ontract ("Con	ıtract"), is m	ade and
entered this [] day	of [_], 2019 (the "Eff	ective Dat	e"), betweer	The Ohio	Turnpike
and Infras	structure	Commission		("Commissi	on")	and
[], a	[]	[corporatio	n/limited
liability company/par referred to as a "Part		•	ssion and	Contractor	may herein	after be

WHEREAS, the Commission desires to implement a new toll collection system ("TCS") that includes highway speed open road tolling ("ORT"), open toll barrier and closed ticketed toll system characteristics, as well as a supporting new customer service center ("CSC") with significant advancements in improved customer experience, communication methods, data availability, and security; and

WHEREAS, in response to the Request for Proposals No. 1-2019 to Furnish, Integrate and Maintain a Toll Collection System issued by the Commission dated October 4, 2019 ("RFP"), as amended from time to time, Contractor proposed under its proposal dated _______, 2019 ("Proposal") to perform such services as identified therein for the Commission;

WHEREAS, the Commission finds that Contractor's Proposal is the best value among those submitted and desires to engage Contractor to perform such services, and Contractor desires to perform such services, under the terms, conditions and provisions contained herein.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration thereof, the mutual promises and covenants contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:

1. Recitals.

The recitals set forth above are Incorporated into this Contract.

2. Definitions.

Capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in this Contract or as set forth in the Scope of Services as set forth in Appendix A to this Contract. For purposes of this Agreement, "Day" shall mean a calendar day, and "Business Day" shall mean any day except Saturday, Sunday or any other day on which commercial banks located in Cleveland, Ohio are authorized or required by Law to be closed for business.

3. Appendices to Contract.

The Scope of Services to be performed hereunder are set forth in Appendix A (the "Scope" or "Work"); and as amended by the agreed upon technical specifications are set forth in Appendix B (the "Technical Proposal"); all costs and pricing are set forth in Appendix C (the "Pricing Schedule"); and the payment milestones are set forth in Appendix D ("Payment Milestones"), each as attached hereto and incorporated herein. In the case of a conflict between the provisions set forth in the body of this Contract and the terms set forth in any of the Appendices attached hereto, the terms of the Appendices shall govern and control as to that specific direct conflict item. The Parties acknowledge and agree

that the Work includes (i) the design, installation and testing of the System and all work related thereto (the "System Work"), and (ii) the maintenance and on-going operational support related to the System after the Go Live date (the "Maintenance Work"). The Work for purposes throughout, includes either the System Work or Maintenance Work or both, unless specifically identified otherwise.

4. Contract Term and Renewal.

This Contract shall begin on the Effective Date and shall continue thereafter until six (6) years after Final Acceptance of the System Work (as defined in the Scope) (the "Initial Term"), unless earlier terminated as provided herein. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Term for the System Work is from the Effective Date until the date of Final Acceptance, and thereafter the Initial Term and any applicable renewal terms are for the Maintenance Work. The Commission, in its sole discretion, may elect to renew this Contract for the Maintenance Work on the same terms and conditions as contained in this Contract for such Maintenance Work for up to three (3) additional renewal periods with a term of up to two (2) years each (each renewal a "Renewal Term"). The Initial Term and any and all Renewal Terms may be referred to collectively as the "Term." The renewal of the Contract shall be at the sole discretion of the Commission and evidenced by an executed amendment; provided, that if the Commission elects to renew the Contract, Contractor must execute the amendment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all components of the Work to be completed that is completion based must be completed within the time periods set forth in the Scope.

5. Scope of Services, Generally.

During the Term, Contractor shall provide, perform and deliver all of the Work set forth in this Contract. All of the Work, and each component or portion thereof, shall conform to each and every standard, specification, provision, criteria, warranty, representation, covenant and requirement, as applicable and as set forth in this Contract including, without limitation, the Scope.

6. Firm Price Period.

All the Work shall be performed by Contractor at the prices and costs set forth on the Pricing Schedule (as set forth in Appendix C). The prices for the Project shall be firm for the Work to be performed during the Term, except as otherwise allowed or modified by a duly authorized Change Order (as defined below).

7. Manner of Performance.

7.1 Reasonable Behavior.

Each party will act in good faith in the performance of its respective responsibilities under the Contract and will not unreasonably delay, condition or withhold the giving of any consent, decision or approval that is either requested or reasonably required by the other Party in order to perform its responsibilities under the Contract; except in the event that the Commission has the ability to consent in its sole discretion.

7.2 Contractor's General Responsibilities.

Contractor shall perform the Work necessary or appropriate to achieve the successful integration, operation and maintenance of the Toll Collection System (hereinafter "TCS" or "System") which includes electronic toll collections, ticket system, traffic counting system, weigh-in-motion system and other supporting functions that may operate independently to achieve toll collection and adhere to System performance

requirements, all as detailed in the Scope. To that end Contractor shall furnish all design, engineering and equipment and software necessary for the System. Contractor shall also provide the services set forth in the Scope including, but not limited to, project management, coordination, implementation, warranty and maintenance services, as well as providing all materials, equipment and labor, excluding only those materials, services and efforts which the Contract and Scope expressly specify will be undertaken by the Commission or a third-party contractor engaged by the Commission.

7.3 Performance Expectations.

Subject to the express terms of the Scope, which Contractor shall perform in accordance therewith, Contractor acknowledges and agrees to the following:

- (1) Assistance with Enforcement and Collection Proceedings. In the case of any dispute regarding a trip or transaction on the Turnpike, including enforcement and collection proceedings, upon the Commission's request, Contractor, at its expense, shall provide assistance and cooperation to evidence the proper operation of the TCS and data furnished to the Commission's customer service center.
- (2) <u>Mitigation of Delay</u>. Contractor shall use commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate delay in performance and completion of the Work, in whole or the component parts, including, but not limited to, by re-sequencing Work, and/or reallocating or re-deploying Contractor's resources and labor, as appropriate.
- (3) Work Arounds. The Commission anticipates the need for "work arounds" in the implementation and operation of the System to enable functionality for a period of time. Notwithstanding the same, if Contractor or the Commission incorporate a work around in order to allow a function to perform, such work around will be deemed a temporary measure and may be considered evidence of a System defect. The Commission must approve any Contractor suggested "work around." Unless otherwise approved by the Commission, such work around will be considered temporary and subject to cure, as specified in Section 14.
- (4) <u>Maintenance</u>. Contractor shall perform the Maintenance Work on the System in accordance with the terms of the Scope. Contractor will maintain the TCS and all of the subsystems and components of such System in good working order, and perform the maintenance and warranty services as detailed in the Scope.

7.4 Performance of Work Directed by the Commission Only.

Notwithstanding, any provision to the contrary, Contractor shall only take direction from the Commission. No other party has the authority to amend or change any aspect of the Work or otherwise direct Contractor with regard to any aspect of the Work other than the Commission or a designee of the Commission.

- (1) Commission Project Manager. The Commission has designated and authorized it's Project Manager to serves as the primary point of contact for all Work related matters. The Commission's Project Manager will determine in the first instance all questions of any nature whatsoever arising out of, under, in connection with, or in any way related to or on account of, this Contract and the Scope.
- (2) <u>Disputes</u>. Contractor agrees that in the event of a dispute as to cooperation or coordination with the Commission's contractors, consultants, or other third party,

including a Governmental Entity, the Commission's Project Manager shall decide all matters which shall be binding. For purposes of this Contract, a "Governmental Entity" shall mean any federal, state, local or foreign government or political subdivision thereof, or any agency or instrumentality of such government or political subdivision, or any self-regulated organization or other non-governmental regulatory authority or quasi-governmental authority (to the extent that the rules, regulations or orders of such organization or authority have the force of law), or any arbitrator, court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction.

7.5 Cooperation.

Contractor shall promptly cooperate and require its subcontractors to promptly cooperate with the Commission and any other Commission designated representatives to facilitate the full, efficient, effective and timely performance of the Work. Contractor and its representatives and staff shall be available at all reasonable times to the Commission.

- 7.5.1 Responding to the Commission Requests. Contractor shall respond to the Commission's requests for information or other requests for which Contractor's input is needed with in the times set forth in the Scope, and if no such time frame is provided, then Contractor will respond to the Commission's requests within the timeframe reasonably requested by the Commission. Contractor shall deliver all documentation required to be submitted as set forth in this Contract including, but not limited to, Section A.4.3 of the Scope including, but not limited to, escrow letters, bonds and insurance certificates.
- **7.5.2 Cooperation with Other Third Parties.** Contractor shall cooperate with other subcontractors and suppliers, utility companies, governing authorities, and all other entities required to perform work related to the Services or otherwise responsible for oversight, supervision, inspection or performance of any part of the Services or Work.

7.6 Project Access and Coordination.

- 7.6.1 Access to Site. Contractor may enter the Project site solely to allow Contractor and/or its subcontractor(s) to prepare for and perform the Work including, but not limited to the ongoing maintenance obligations of the System. Contractor shall remain liable for the safety of its employees and contractors while on site at the locations in which Contractor must perform the Work. Contractor assumes all risk and liability resulting from or arising out of the acts and inactions of Contractor, and its employees, agents, subcontractors, and suppliers, including, but not limited to, damage related to the Work, Equipment and supplies.
- 7.6.2 Coordination. Contractor acknowledges and understands that throughout the Term, it will be performing Work on the roadway at the same time as other contractors are performing their work on or within the boundaries of the site. Contractor shall coordinate, and require its subcontractors to coordinate, through the Commission's Project Manager, the Work to ensure the full, efficient, effective and timely performance and completion of such Work. Contractor must coordinate through the Commission with these other contractors as set forth in the Scope, as applicable, regarding access to and from the Project site.

- **7.6.3 Minimize Operational Disruptions.** Contractor shall cooperate and coordinate with the Commission its Work, and shall use its best efforts to minimize disruption to the integration, operation and maintenance of the System.
- 7.6.4 Incident Response. In the event of an incident that may occur on or near the roadway and in which Contractor or its subcontractors may be involved, Contractor shall for itself and its subcontractors, complete any forms and furnish the required information to the Commission or its designated representative. For any incidents that involve other contractors and/or subcontractors, Contractor shall complete the forms and furnish the necessary information as required by the Commission or its designated representatives, or follow other procedures as requested by the Commission.
- 7.6.5 Contractor Access to Plans. To assist Contractor, the Commission shall provide to Contractor during normal working hours, reasonable access to plans, surveys, drawings, as-built drawings, specifications, reports and other documents and information in the possession of the Commission relating to the Work or the Project site. Contractor, at its expense, shall have the right to make copies of the same at its expense. Contractor, at its expense, shall conduct such other inspections, investigations, document searches, surveys and other work as may be necessary to achieve compatibility, integration and transition with applicable related transportation facilities.
- 7.6.6 Notice of Conflict or Potential Conflict. In the event that Contractor believes that the Commission's third-party contractors are not cooperating with or otherwise coordinating with Contractor, Contractor shall immediately notify the Commission, but in no event later than two (2) Business Days, after the alleged non-cooperative activity began or occurs. Contractor shall provide the Commission with details of the nature of the failure or lack of cooperation. Failure of Contractor to furnish such notice within the specified time period shall result in the Contractor's waiver of any claim resulting from such lack of cooperation.

7.7 Project Execution and Planning.

Contractor shall be responsible for completing the Work in a timely and efficient manner, and as required by this Contract including, but not limited to, the Scope. Contractor must develop a "Project Management Plan" that covers all phases of the Project as described in the Scope, including, but not limited to, the end of Contract Term transition as set forth in Section 7.7.1.

- 7.7.1 End of Contract Term Transition and Responsibilities. Contractor acknowledges and understands that this Contract is subject to a date certain expiration or early termination, and there is no exclusivity by the Commission with regard to the Work or Services. The Commission may re-procure or self-perform the Work, in whole or any portion, as it deems necessary or appropriate. Contractor shall cooperate fully with the Commission or such other vendors in order to facilitate the performance of work by the Commission or such vendor(s), and agrees to refrain from any activity which would interfere with such performance.
 - 7.7.1.1 <u>Transition</u>. Upon expiration or earlier termination of the Term, Contractor shall perform the end of Contract responsibilities set forth in the Scope or as otherwise requested by the Commission. Contractor shall accomplish a

complete transition of the Work from Contractor to the Commission, or to any replacement provider designated by the Commission. Contractor shall not cause, nor shall any party acting on behalf of or for Contractor, any interruption of, or adverse impact on the Commission's toll operation, any component of the Work or any other work provided by third parties. Contractor shall cooperate fully with the Commission or such replacement provider, and Contractor shall promptly take all steps required to assist in effecting a complete transition. All Work related to such transition shall be performed by Contractor at no additional cost.

7.7.1.2 Failure to Comply. Contractor acknowledges and agrees that Contractor's failure to comply with and fulfill the terms and condition of this Contract will adversely affect the Commission and result in monetary loss to the Commission. The Commission shall notify to Contractor any monetary losses resulting from the Contractor's failure to comply with the provisions of this Section 7. The Commission's reasonable determination as to the amount of the monetary loss suffered shall be conclusive unless determined otherwise in a court of law. If Contractor disputes the monetary loss determination, it may file claim in a court of law with within forty-five (45) Days of the Commission's notice of monetary loss determination. Contractor shall compensate the Commission for any undisputed loss within thirty (30) Days of notification of the loss by the Commission, or within five (5) Days of resolution of the dispute or resolution by the court of competent jurisdiction, as applicable.

8. Time of Performance.

8.1 Notice to Proceed.

The performance time will begin with the issuance of a Notice to Proceed, which shall be in writing and signed by the Commission's Project Manager. Unless an extension of time is granted by the Commission pursuant to Section 20.8 of this Contract, Contractor will commence and perform the Work in accordance with the timing set forth in Appendix A.

8.2 Project Schedule.

The Contractor shall perform its Work according to the Commission approved Project Schedule, set forth in Appendix A, which will take into consideration the requirements set forth in Section A.4.2 of the Scope. The Commission may also reasonably change or amend the Project Schedule to accommodate conditions encountered during the progress of the Project, in the Commission's sole and absolute discretion. Changes in the Project Schedule with not result in additional charges or costs to the Commission.

8.3 Deliverable Schedule.

All Work and each deliverable set forth in Section A.4.2 of the Scope (collectively, "Deliverables" and individually, "Deliverable") shall be performed or delivered by the Contractor within the times specified in the Deliverables Schedule or as otherwise set forth in this Contract or Appendix A, each as may be amended.

8.4 Suspension of Work.

The Commission shall have the authority to suspend, in whole or in part, the Work for (a) failure of Contractor to correct conditions unsafe for laborers or for the general public, (b) failure of the Contractor to carry out provisions of this Contract, (c) failure to carry out the Commission's directions, (d) unsuitable weather, or other conditions

considered unsuitable for the performance of all or part of the Work, (e) heavy traffic, (f) unsafe traffic control, or (g) for any other condition or reason deemed by the Commission to be in the public interest, all as determined in the sole and absolute discretion of the Commission. Any such suspension shall be for such periods as the Commission deems necessary. Contractor may qualify for an extension of time pursuant to Section 20.8 for suspensions that are the result of subsections (d),(e) or (f) above.

8.5 Contractor Delays.

Contractor shall pursue the Work without delay. If Contractor is responsible for any delays in the time and sequence of the Project Schedule or the Deliverable Schedule, Contractor shall be subject to liquidated damages in the event of a delay as set forth in Section 25 of this Contract or other damages as applicable.

9. Submittals, the Commission Reviews and Approvals.

9.1 Submittal Procedures.

Contractor shall timely submit documents as required and within the applicable timeframe set forth under this Contract (each a "Submittal" and collectively, the "Submittals"). In the event there are no provisions in this Contract, the Scope or Project Management Plan and component plans concerning submission, review and approval procedures, this Section shall govern and control.

9.2 Accuracy.

In all cases, all documentation required to be provided by the Contractor shall be true, complete and accurate in all respects, and tailored and detailed as necessary to the needs of the Project or the Commission.

9.3 Review Periods.

Except as expressly set forth in this Contract, whenever the Commission is entitled to review and comment or otherwise approve a Submittal, the Commission shall respond and/or act upon such Submittal generally within fifteen (15) Business Days from the date it receives an accurate and complete Submittal, unless otherwise specified, together with a completed transmittal form acceptable to the Commission and all necessary information and documentation concerning the subject matter of the Submittal. Any period of review by the Commission in excess of fifteen (15) Business Days, except where the Deliverables Schedule provides for a longer review time period, may give rise to an extension of time as set forth below in Section 9.4 and in Section 20.8 of this Contract.

9.4 Extension of Time Periods.

All time periods for the Commission to act upon Submittals shall be extended by the period of any delay actually caused by (a) a Force Majeure Event; (b) change in law; (c) issuance of a temporary restraining order or other form of injunction by a court that prohibits prosecution of any material portion of the Work; and (d) to the extent of any delay by the Contractor or any Contractor Parties.

9.5 Commission's Comments/Objections.

The Commission reserves the right to comment on, take exception to, object to, accept, reject or disapprove any Submittal, Deliverable or portion or all of the Work. If the item is disapproved then the Commission will provide comments that define the nature and extent of the deficiency. The Commission's comment, exception, objection, rejection or

disapproval shall be deemed reasonable, valid and binding, with no further action by the Commission, if based on any of the following grounds:

- (1) <u>Non-compliance with Requirements</u>. The Submittal or subject provision thereof or the Work fails to comply with any applicable covenant, condition, requirement, term or provision of this Contract, Project Management Plan and component plans thereunder;
- (2) <u>Good Industry Practice</u>. The Submittal or subject provision thereof or the Work is not to a standard equal to or better than the requirements of Good Industry Practice:
- (3) <u>Incomplete Submittal, Content or Work</u>. Contractor has not provided all content and information required with respect to a Submittal, or subject provision or the Work.
- (4) <u>Lack of Quality Control</u>. The Submittal contains a multitude of technical errors, spelling or grammatical errors, incorrect references, or is generally unprofessional and indicative of a lack of or insufficient quality control.
- (5) <u>Violation of Law</u>. Adoption of the Submittal or subject provision thereof, or of any proposed course of action thereunder, would result in a conflict with or violation of applicable law or Governmental Entity approval ("Governmental Approval").
- (6) Not a Typical Commission Arrangement. In the case of a Submittal that is to be delivered to a Governmental Entity as a proposed Governmental Approval, or in order to obtain, modify, amend, supplement, renew, extend, waive or carry out a Governmental Approval, the Submittal proposes commitments, requirements, actions, terms or conditions that are not arrangements that the Commission offers or accepts for addressing similar circumstances affecting its projects.

9.6 Contractor Review and Comments.

Contractor shall use its best efforts to accommodate or resolve any comments or objections to the Submittals by the Commission. Contractor shall timely and promptly respond to all of the Commission comments and objections to a Submittal and, except as provided below, make modifications to the Submittal as necessary to fully reflect and resolve all such comments and objections. If Contractor rejects a comment or objection, Contractor shall deliver to the Commission within a reasonable time period, not to exceed five (5) Business Days, after receipt of the Commission's comments or objections, a written explanation of the rejection or objection to the comment by Contractor fully detailing why it is rejecting or objecting to the comment. The written explanation shall include the facts, analyses and reasons that support the conclusion, as well as supporting documentation. The Contractor's Project Manager and the Commission's Project Manager shall resolve any such conflict.

9.6.1 Failure to Notify. If Contractor fails to notify the Commission within the required time period, then that failure shall constitute Contractor's agreement to make all changes necessary to accommodate and resolve the comment or objection and full acceptance of all responsibility for such changes without right to a claim.

9.6.2 Limitation on Modifications. The foregoing shall in no way be deemed to obligate Contractor to incorporate any comments or resolve objections that would render the Submittal or Work erroneous, defective or less than Good Industry Practice.

9.7 Limitations on Contractor's Right to Rely.

Contractor at all times shall have an independent duty and obligation to fulfill the requirements of this Contract. Any approval by the Commission shall not be deemed to relieve or otherwise waive any of the Contractor's obligations or requirements under this Contract, unless the same is the subject matter of an amendment to this Contract. The Commission assumes no duty, obligation or liability regarding completeness or correctness of any Submittal, including a Submittal that is to be delivered to a Governmental Entity as a proposed Governmental Approval, or in order to obtain, modify, amend, supplement, renew, extend, waive or carry out a Governmental Approval. No review, comment, objection, rejection, approval, disapproval, acceptance, certification (including certificates of acceptance and Final Acceptance), concurrence, monitoring, testing, inspection, spot checking, auditing or other oversight or similar action or the lack thereof, by or on behalf of the Commission shall constitute acceptance of non-conforming or defective materials or Work or waiver of any legal or equitable right under the Contact, at law, or in equity. The Commission shall be entitled to remedies for unapproved deviations and nonconforming Work and to identify additional Work which must be done to bring the Work and Project into compliance with the requirements of this Contract, including, but not limited to, the Scope, whether or not previous review, comment, objection, rejection, approval, disapproval, acceptance, certification, concurrence, monitoring, testing, inspection, spot checking, auditing or other oversight were conducted or given by the Commission or by the Commission's other contractors or designated representatives.

With respect to such activity or failure to conduct any such activity by the Commission or its other contractors or designated representatives, Contractor agrees and acknowledges that such activity:

- (1) is solely for the benefit and protection of the Commission;
- (2) does not relieve Contractor of its responsibility for the selection and the competent performance of all Contractor-Related Entities;
- does not create or impose upon the Commission or other third party providing approval on the Commission's behalf any duty or obligation with regard to Contractor's requirements hereunder;
- (4) shall not be deemed or construed as any kind of warranty, express or implied, by the Commission:
- (5) shall not relieve Contractor from liability for, and responsibility to cure and correct any, unapproved deviations, nonconforming Work or Contractor Events of Default.
- (6) shall not relieve or entitle Contractor to any reduction of or modification to its obligations to perform the Work in strict accordance with this Contract, or any of its other liabilities and obligations, including, but not limited to, its indemnity obligations, or otherwise entitle Contractor to additional costs or funds;
- (7) may not be relied upon by Contractor or used as evidence in determining whether Contractor has fulfilled the requirements of this Contract; and
- (8) may not be asserted by Contractor against the Commission as a defense, legal or equitable, to or as a waiver of or from, Contractor's obligation or responsibilities under this Contract.

10. Inspection and Testing.

At all times during the Term of this Contract, the Commission shall have the right to conduct the monitoring, reviewing, inspection, testing, reporting, auditing and other oversight functions set forth in this Contract. The Commission shall have the right to attend and witness any tests and verifications to be conducted pursuant to this Contract by Contractor, and which such attendance or participation does not waive any rights of the Commission for any defects or failures to perform by Contractor hereunder. Contractor shall provide to the Commission all applicable test results and reports (which may be provided in electronic format) within ten (10) Days after Contractor receives them.

10.1 Failure to Pass Testing.

If Contractor fails, in whole or in part, to pass any test required by Section A.9 of the Scope, the Commission shall withhold approval and any associated payments due until the completion of any and all corrective action and the successful completion of any and all retests. In the event of any re-testing, Contractor shall pay for (a) the costs of the Commission employees to participate in and to attend each re-testing, including, but not limited to, travel, meals and lodging (but not the cost of any of the Commission's employee salary); (b) the consulting fees and the costs of the Commission's consultants to participate in and to attend, including, but not limited to, travel, meals and lodging; and (c) all of Contractor's costs and fees. Contractor shall make payment to the Commission for these costs and expenses within thirty (30) Days of the date of the invoice from the Commission listing such costs and expenses.

10.2 Inspection of Work.

If the Scope, laws, or any Governmental Entity require any component of the Work to be tested or approved, Contractor shall give the Commission timely written notice of its readiness for inspection and testing by the Commission or its designee.

11. Site Conditions.

11.1 Site Investigation.

Contractor acknowledges that it has carefully and thoroughly reviewed the site conditions where the Project is located. Contractor is satisfied as to the general, local and site conditions, and the condition of any and all gantries, equipment and hardware on or related to the Project that may affect costs, progress, performance or furnishing of the Work. Contractor agrees that the conditions at the Project site are sufficient and no changes need to be made for Contractor to perform completely and fully the Work as set forth in this Contract. The apparent silence of any specification as to any detail, or the apparent omission of detailed description concerning any point, shall be interpreted to mean that only the best commercial practice is to prevail and only material and workmanship of the first quality may be used. Upon receipt of any notice of noncompliance issued by the Commission, Contractor shall supply written proof of compliance within ten (10) Days.

11.2 Differing Site Conditions.

Contractor shall not proceed with performing Work or otherwise shall halt affected Work in progress, and notify the Commission in accordance with Section 11.3, upon discovering (a) subsurface or latent physical conditions at the Project site which differ materially from those indicated in this Contract; (b) unknown physical conditions at the Project site of an unusual nature, which differ materially from those ordinarily encountered and generally recognized; or (c) improper, incorrect or incomplete pre-

existing work on the Project that impact, interfere with or otherwise hinder Contractor's performance or quality of the Work.

11.3 Notice of Differing Site Conditions.

Contractor shall provide written notice to the Commission Project Manager of such matters set forth in Section 11.2 within three (3) Days of discovery. The notice shall describe the specific condition(s) identified, the cost and schedule implication(s), if any, and all proposed solutions to resolve the condition(s) identified. No request by Contractor for an adjustment to the Contract Price or for an extension of time under this Contract shall be considered by the Commission, unless the Contractor has given the written notice as required herein.

12. Safety Precautions.

The Contractor shall be solely and completely responsible for the safety of all persons and property related to the Work, and shall comply with the rules and regulations of OSHA, the Commission and any other Governmental Entity responsible for the safety of labor, the Work performed in, on or about the traffic lanes, and/or Work performed at any other work site related to the Project. The Contractor alone shall be responsible for the safety, efficiency and adequacy of its facilities, appliances and methods, and any damage which may result from their construction, maintenance or operations. Contractor shall erect and properly maintain at all times as required by the conditions and Work proper safeguards for the protection of its personnel, subcontractors, the public or any visitor or user of the Project site, and shall post danger warnings against any hazards created by Contractor's operations. Contractor shall designate a responsible member of its organization whose duty shall be the prevention of accidents.

13. Hardware/Equipment/Materials/Supplies.

13.1 Equipment.

Contractor shall obtain in the Commission's name and the Commission shall own all of the equipment and hardware (the "Equipment") as required by this Contract to be purchased for the Commission. In particular, Contractor shall purchase on behalf of the Commission all in lane and roadside Equipment that will be deployed for the Project (excepting any currently installed Equipment that will be incorporated into Contractor's Work). The Commission shall pay for this Equipment as more specifically set forth in the Pricing Schedules. The Equipment shall in all ways conform to the requirements set forth in this Contract including, but not limited to, the Scope.

- (1) <u>Bill of Sale</u>. Any invoices furnished by Contractor to the Commission for Equipment and spare parts for the applicable Equipment ("Spare Parts") shall have an executed Bill of Sale in the Commission's name on a form substantially similar to that in Exhibit A ("Bill of Sale") and shall fully evidence the Commission's ownership as required in this Contract, providing full title to the Commission of the applicable Equipment, free and clear of all encumbrances, debts, mortgages, attachments, pledges, charges, claims, security interests, and liens of any kind. Contractor shall deliver the fully executed Bills of Sale to the Commission no later than the date of Final Acceptance.
- (2) <u>FOB Destination</u>. Transportation of all Equipment, supplies and any other item that must be transported so that Contractor may commence or perform the Work shall be FOB Destination. Freight, handling, hazardous material

charges, taxes, and distribution and installation charges shall be included in the total price of each item set forth in the Pricing Schedule. No additional charges will be honored for payment unless Contractor receives prior written authorization from the Commission, which approval may be withheld in the Commission's sole discretion. If a party other than Contractor ships materials against this Contract, the shipper shall be instructed by Contractor to show the purchase order number on all packages and shipping manifests to ensure proper identification and payment. A complete packing list must accompany each shipment.

(3) <u>Warranties</u>. All warranties on such Equipment and Spare Parts shall be transferred to, and be enforceable by, the Commission. Contractor shall provide any such required assignments or conveyance documents for such warranties to the Commission as necessary.

13.2 Purchase Order Processing.

All orders for Equipment and/or software will be placed according to the terms herein. Contractor shall forward an email request to the Commission's Project Manager. This request shall include the name and quantity for each item being ordered, price per item, and the address to which the items will be delivered. This request must be received by the Commission's Project Manager at least 75 Days prior to the desired delivery date, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the Commission's Project Manager. Contractor shall also notify the Commission's Project Manager upon Contractor's receipt of any Equipment and/or software. Such notification shall be in writing and detail the item(s) delivered, the location where the item(s) are being stored and the quantity received. Upon receipt of the Equipment and/or software, Contractor shall be responsible for the inventory process including the placement of asset identification labels on the item(s), if applicable, and providing information to the Commission from the Maintenance Management System to include vendor, date purchased, detailed description, picture, cost, make, model, serial number and estimated useful life in years. Contractor shall ensure that each item of Equipment and software shall be warranted by the manufacturer thereof, which warranty shall be enforceable by the Commission.

13.3 Spare Parts Inventory.

Contractor shall be solely responsible for maintaining an adequate Inventory of Equipment, Spare Parts and consumables to perform and maintain the Work. The Commission shall own each Spare Part and consumable upon payment by the Commission to Contractor, except in the event Contractor elects to utilize the initial Spare Parts inventory during the warranty period, in which case the Contractor is responsible for funding the replenishment of the inventory and maintaining inventory levels to their original quantities at no additional cost to the Commission. Contractor shall bear the risk of loss pursuant to Section 15 of this Contract. Contractor will turn over to the Commission upon termination of the Contract the inventory of Spare Parts in the amounts paid for by the Commission.

13.4 Quality Control.

Contractor must ensure that all parts, components, Equipment, materials, and other items purchased for use in the System are new and in accordance with the applicable warranty. All Spare Parts purchased by Contractor must be new, of good quality and designed to reliably carry out their functions within the System and meet the requirements of this Contract.

14. Defective Work.

A Deliverable or Work may be unacceptable because (i) it fails applicable testing, (ii) it fails to perform as required under this Contract, (iii) it fails to conform to the specifications of the Scope, (iv) it fails to conform to its warranty, or (v) is furnished in breach of or contrary to this Contract. Deliverables that are defective may be rejected upon inspection or at any later time if the defects contained in the Deliverables or non-compliance with the specifications were not ascertainable upon inspection. The Commission may provide written notice to Contractor of any item of Work that is not acceptable. If Contractor fails to cure the defect or replace the item of Deliverable or Work within the time set forth in any written notice then, in addition to the Commission's other rights and remedies under this Contract and law, the Commission may cancel or terminate, in whole or in part, this Contract or applicable Change Order, and contract with a different contractor and invoice Contractor for any differential in price over the Contract price. The Commission shall deliver notice to Contractor if it undertakes any of the foregoing action. Rejected items may be regarded as abandoned if not removed by Contractor as set forth in the Commission's written notice.

15. Risk of Loss.

Contractor shall have sole responsibility for the risk of loss to Contractor and Contractor Party-owned facilities, Equipment and other goods, and for risk of loss to the Software, material and supplies set forth in Sections 13.1 and 13.3 of this Contract. Contractor shall assume the risk of loss for all Equipment and materials, and software, until the Commission's acceptance of the applicable Work as set forth in the Scope. Contractor assumes all risk of loss for Spare Parts until the particular Spare Part is properly placed into the System and accepted by the Commission as set forth in the Scope. Contractor shall maintain adequate insurance for the risk of loss assumed in this Section 15. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Equipment is installed in the lane and the road is open to tolling, and through no fault of Contractor a third party motorist damages the Equipment, then Contractor will not be responsible for the cost of repairs to the damaged Equipment or replacement of the damaged Equipment.

16. Loss of Revenue.

If Contractor meets an applicable KPI or availability requirements (as set forth in the Scope), but the Commission nevertheless incurs a loss of gross revenue as a result of the acts or inactions of Contractor or Contractor Parties, then for each event in which the Commission incurs a loss of revenue that exceeds \$5,000.00, Contractor shall make payment to the Commission of the revenue associated with lost trips and lost or unrecognized tolls. In the event that the Commission is unable to determine such lost revenue because data is lost or otherwise unavailable, then the Parties agree that the determination of the lost revenue shall be based on historical figures (traffic) maintained by the Commission. The Commission, at its option, may either reduce the amount of the subsequent monthly maintenance fee or warranty fee, as applicable, by the amount of revenue due as set forth herein, or require Contractor to make payment of the lost revenue within thirty (30) Days of the Commission's notice to Contractor of the amount.

16.1 Stale Transactions.

Once the Project is open to tolling and thereafter during the remainder of the Term, if as a result of the acts or inactions of Contractor or Contractor Parties, Contractor fails to successfully transmit to the CSC a properly formed E-ZPass transaction and all of the information required by this Contract for each such E-ZPass transaction within sixty (60) Days after the date the trip occurred ("Stale Transactions"), then Contractor

shall be responsible to make payment to the Commission for the amount of lost tolls represented by each Stale Transaction. Contractor shall make payment to the Commission of such loss of revenue from the Stale Transactions within thirty (30) Days of the Commission's notice to Contractor.

16.2 Contractor Recommendation.

Contractor may present to the Commission remedies that will prevent similar future events. If the Commission agrees that such remedies will prevent future similar events, then approval of the implementation of such remedies will not be unreasonably withheld by the Commission, taking into consideration the Commission's business needs and other general business considerations. By way of example and not by limitation, any correction that may result in a Stale Transaction as detailed in Section 16.1 of this Contract, shall be deemed unreasonable. Agreed upon remedies will be executed at no cost to the Commission and not impact in any way any of the Commission's other requirements under this Contract or Contractor's other obligations under this Contract. Contractor acknowledges that the Commission's approval of any such remedy does not limit the Commission's remedies or recourse in the event such approved remedy does not fulfill the stated purpose.

17. Contractor Personnel.

17.1 General.

Contractor shall provide sufficient professional personnel and staffing to perform the Work in a timely and efficient manner in accordance with this Contract. All Persons assigned to perform work or services under this Contract shall be employees or authorized subcontractors of Contractor, shall be licensed in the State of Ohio (if required by law) and shall be fully qualified to perform the work and/or services required to do the Work. Contractor shall include this provision in any agreement with any subcontractor and/or supplier selected to perform and/or to provide any portion of the Work. Personnel commitments set forth in the Scope shall not be changed unless approved by the Commission. Contractor's failure to provide adequate staffing to perform the Work as represented in this Contract and according to the Project Schedule may result in the termination of this Contract at the Commission's sole discretion. All Contractor personnel and subcontractor personnel shall comply with the Commission's workplace requirements while on the Commission's premises, Project site or otherwise while performing the Work. Contractor acknowledges and agrees that it is and shall be solely responsible for all of Contractor's employee wages and salaries, federal and state taxes, withholding, social security, insurance, and other benefits and taxes. Contractor agrees to provide workers' compensation insurance for Contractor's employees and agents and agrees to hold harmless and indemnify the Commission for any and all claims arising out of any injury, disability, or death of any of Contractor's employees or agents (as set forth in Section 28).

17.2 Contractor's Project Manager.

Contractor shall at all times provide a Project Manager as Key Personnel and approved by the Commission who (a) will have full responsibility for the prosecution of the Work, including design, integration, operation and maintenance of the Work; (b) will act as agent and be a single point of contact on all daily Work decisions and Project-related matters on behalf of Contractor; (c) will be available or present at the Project site, as requested by the Commission, at all times that Work is performed; and (d) will be available to respond to the Commission upon the Commission's request. Notwithstanding the above, the Project Manager may appoint a designee from time to

time in accordance with Section 17.3. Contractor agrees that Contractor's Project Manager shall have the authority to make decisions and to bind Contractor to decisions made by the Contractor's Project Manager and to documents signed by the Contractor's Project Manager in furtherance of the Project and the Work. Contractor shall cause its Project Manager to cooperate and coordinate with the Commission and the Commission designated representatives in the administration of this Contract.

17.3 Key Personnel.

The Project Management Plan shall also specify the on-site availability of the Key Personnel. Contractor shall provide written notice to the Commission of the departure of any Key Personnel within seven (7) Days of the departure. Contractor shall not substitute Key Personnel included in the organization chart(s) as required under Section A.4.1.2 of the Scope and assigned to this Contract without the prior written approval of the Commission. Contractor shall provide to the Commission the name of the proposed substitute Key Personnel accompanied by details of the experience and references of the proposed substitute person.

17.4 Commission's Right to Remove.

The Commission shall have the right to request Contractor to remove an employee from performing the Work under this Contract. In the event of such removal, Contractor will replace the employee with the appropriate skilled personnel.

18. Subcontracting.

18.1 Subcontracting.

Contractor may employ independent professional associates, subcontractors and suppliers ("Contractor Parties") as Contractor may deem appropriate to assist in the performance of the Work hereunder. However, Contractor shall not subcontract Work to subcontractors or suppliers that are different from those subcontractors or suppliers listed in Appendix B, without obtaining the Commission's prior written approval, with such approval being within the Commission's sole discretion. Nothing contained in this Contract shall create any contractual relationship between the subcontractor of Contractor and the Commission. Contractor shall remain liable for the performance of all Work under this Contract.

18.2 Contractor Remains Responsible.

If Contractor subcontracts any of the Work to be performed under this Contract in accordance with the terms hereunder, Contractor shall be fully responsible for the management and oversight of the subcontractor or supplier, and Contractor shall be liable for subcontractors performance and for the acts, errors, or omissions of the subcontractor and supplier, without limitation. Contractor shall enforce the terms of this Agreement against subcontractor, and shall cooperate with the Commission in any actions taken by the Commission. Notwithstanding any subcontract or agreement with any subcontractor or supplier, Contractor shall be fully responsible for all of the Work on this Project, and for all terms, conditions, liabilities, and responsibilities under this Contract, whether or not Contractor performs the Work.

18.3 Mandatory Terms in Subcontracts.

Any subcontract entered into as a result of this Contract, except those exclusively regarding third-party materials, suppliers, and commercial off the shelf system software ("COTS") supplied by Contractor under this Contract, shall contain all applicable provisions of this Contract including, but not limited to, provisions pertaining to records,

and payment methods, and representations, warranties, indemnities and Events of Default under this Contract. Contractor shall further ensure that all subcontracts entered into by Contractor for any Work to be performed or Equipment or materials supplied grant the Commission all of the rights and privileges of such subcontract, including the Commission's right to secure materials, Equipment or service from the subcontractor that might be a part of the subcontractor's Work, and the rights to enforce contract rights, and any warranty or remedy for work performed by such subcontractor.

18.4 Timely Payments to Subcontractors.

Contractor warrants that it shall make timely and complete payments for Work performed to any subcontractor or supplier hereunder, and Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the Commission for any breach of this Section and in accordance with Section 28.

18.5 Relationship of the Parties.

Each Party, in the performance of this Contract, shall act in its individual legal capacity and not as an agent, employee, partner, joint venturer, or associate of the other Party. The employees, agents, partners or contractors of one Party shall not be deemed or construed to be the employees, agents, partners or contractors of the other Party for any purposes. Neither Party shall assume any liability of any type on behalf of the other Party or any of such other Party's employees, agents, partners or contractors. The Parties expressly understand and agree that Contractor is an independent contractor of the Commission in all manner and respect and that neither Party to this Contract is authorized to bind the other Party to any liability or obligation or to represent in any way that it has such authority.

18.6 [Joint Venture/Partnership.

If Contractor is a joint venture or partnership then each member of the joint venture or partnership shall be joint and several to the Commission for any and all obligations, responsibilities, liabilities, damages, liquidated damages, and warranties arising under this Contract.]

18.7 Removal of Subcontractor.

The Commission shall have the right to require Contractor to remove a subcontractor or supplier of Contractor from performing under this Contract, if in the Commission's reasonable opinion such subcontractor or supplier:

- (1) is not performing its portion of the Work satisfactorily;
- (2) is failing to cooperate as required in this Contract;
- (3) is posing a security risk to the Project or to the Commission's business;
- (4) is otherwise breaching a term of this Contract;
- (5) its presence on the Project is not in the interest of the Commission; or
- (6) any other reasonable basis.

In the event of such removal, Contractor will replace the subcontractor or supplier with a suitable replacement within a reasonable time specified by the Commission.

19. Payment Terms.

19.1 General.

The Commission shall compensate Contractor in accordance with the prices set forth in the Pricing Schedule for accepted Work as set forth in the Scope. All prices on the Pricing Schedule include, and Contractor shall be solely responsible for, all taxes, tariffs and duties, insurance, transportation, packaging, customs, benefits, ancillary costs, overhead, profit and any other similar charges. The Commission shall pay Contractor in accordance with its normal processes and procedures for all undisputed amounts within thirty (30) Days of receipt of a valid invoice, provided with regard to the System Work, the Commission or the Commission designated representatives, as applicable, received, approved and issued an acceptance for the particular component of Work or phase of Work, completion and acceptance of Project Milestones and/or Contractor has achieved Project Acceptance as set forth in this Contract. All Maintenance Work shall be invoiced to the Commission on a month basis, and the Commission shall pay Contractor within thirty (30) Days of receipt of a valid invoice. All amounts due from the Commission to Contractor may be net of any amount owed from the Contractor to the Commission. In addition to any right of set-off, deduction or recoupment provided or allowed by law, the Commission may, without notice to Contractor, set off against. and deduct and recoup from, any amounts due or to become due from the Commission to Contractor, any amounts due or to become due from Contractor to the Commission, including for damages resulting from breaches by Contractor or any Contractor designated Parties of its obligations under this Contract or any other agreement between such parties.

19.2 Retainage.

Work to be performed shall be subject to a retainage as set forth in the Scope. The retainage shall be paid upon Final Invoice (defined below in Section 19.8.2, less any outstanding amounts owed to the Commission pursuant to this Contract.

19.3 Invoicing.

Contractor shall deliver to the Commission an invoice (i) for the System Work in accordance with the timing set forth on the Project Schedule and the Scope and the Payment Milestones, and (ii) for the Maintenance Work on a monthly basis. Each System Work invoice shall include a request for payment for a Deliverable or Work that was completed, tested and accepted, as applicable for such Deliverable or Work in accordance with the Pricing Schedule. Contractor shall submit an itemized bill, identifying the date and a description of the Equipment delivered or Work completed, the address to where the Equipment was delivered, the documentation furnished or the labor and services rendered the previous month, the status of any on-going Work (i.e., the percent to completion of task or milestone), a detailed account or description of the Work or Deliverable performed during the time period to further or complete a component of Work or Deliverable, and notification if a component of the Work, Deliverable or milestone has been completed and accepted. Along with each invoice, Contractor will provide any backup documentation reasonably necessary to the Commission to verify the invoice, certifications and test results as required in this Contract or as otherwise requested by the Commission.

19.4 Withholding Payments.

The Commission reserves the right to withhold payment or payments, in whole or in part, for nonconforming Work or Deliverable or Work not completed in accordance with this Contract or the Project Schedule. The value of such action, duty or service or part

thereof will be determined by the Commission and deducted from any invoice claiming such items for payment. If the action, duty or service or part thereof has been completed and is not in conformance with this Contract. Payment for the non-conforming or incomplete work will be withheld by the Commission from any submitted invoice until such time as the Work or Deliverable is corrected or completed in accordance with this Contract. Any and all such payment previously withheld shall be released and paid to Contractor promptly upon resolution of the dispute in Contractor's favor or when the Work or Deliverable is subsequently performed in accordance with this Contract the provisions of this Section 19.1 shall not apply.

19.5 No Disruption of Work.

Except as specifically set forth in Section 20.8, under no circumstances shall Work to be provided by Contractor be withheld, suspended or delayed by Contractor due to non-payment by the Commission pursuant to any provision of Section 19 or for any other reason. Contractor's failure to comply with this Section 19.5 shall be considered an Event of Default as set forth in Section 31.

19.6 Overpayment.

In the event an erroneous payment or overpayment is made by the Commission, Contractor shall immediately refund to the Commission the full amount of any such erroneous payment or overpayment following the Commission's written notice or Contractor's discovery of such erroneous payment or overpayment. Except in the case of a good faith dispute, if Contractor fails to refund the erroneous payment or overpayment within a 30-Day period, the Commission shall be entitled to interest at one percent (1%) per month, or the greatest amount permitted by law, on the amount not repaid from the date of such payment by the Commission until repaid by Contractor.

19.7 Full Compensation.

All Work performed by Contractor under this Contract shall be paid as set forth above, and shall constitute full payment and compensation for the Work and Deliverables, including but not limited to (a) the cost of all insurance and bond premiums, taxes, home office, job site and other overhead and profit relating to Contractor's performance of its obligations under this Contract; (b) the cost of performance of each and every portion of the Work (including all costs of all Work provided by subcontractors and suppliers); (c) the cost of obtaining all Governmental Approvals and all costs of compliance with and maintenance of such Governmental Approvals; (d) all risk of inflation for labor or materials, currency risk, interest and other costs of funds associated with the progress payment schedule for the Work as provided in this Contract; and (e) payment of any taxes, duties, permits and other fees or royalties imposed with respect to the Work, the Deliverables and any Equipment, materials, supplies, documentation, labor or services.

19.8 Final Systems Implementation.

Final payment and retainage for the System Work shall not be due to Contractor until Project Acceptance and each and every component of the System Work is delivered to and accepted by the Commission and there are no outstanding claims against Contractor.

19.8.1 Proposed Final Invoice. Contractor shall submit a final invoice to the Commission for the System Work within thirty (30) Days of the Project Acceptance ("Proposed Final Invoice"). All prior invoices and payments shall be subject to correction in the Proposed Final Invoice. The Commission will review the Proposed Final Invoice

and respond with a written request for additional information or documentation, changes or corrections within thirty (30) Days of the Commission's receipt.

19.8.2 Final Invoice. Based on the Commission's response, Contractor shall submit a final invoice ("Final Invoice") incorporating any changes to the Proposed Final Invoice or corrections made by the Commission, together with any additional requested information or documentation. Notwithstanding any monthly payment due to Contractor for maintenance, if the Commission agrees with all requests for compensation in the Final Invoice, the Commission will pay the entire sum found due within thirty (30) Days of its receipt of the Final Invoice. If the Commission disputes any amounts submitted for compensation, the Commission shall notify Contractor within a thirty (30) Day period, identifying those items in the Final Invoice that the Commission disputes, along with a written explanation of the basis of the dispute. If the Commission fails or refuses to act on a Final Invoice within the required time period, the amount submitted for compensation shall be deemed to have been accepted by the Commission on the last day of the period within which the Commission was required to respond.

19.9 Payment not Acceptance.

Payment or use of any Work or portions thereof by the Commission shall not constitute an acceptance of any Work not performed in accordance with this Contract, nor shall payment waive any preceding or then-existing breach or default by Contractor of any term, covenant or condition of this Contract. Additionally, payment shall not extend or affect (a) any time within which the Contractor is required to perform any obligation; or (b) any other notice or demand.

20. Change Orders/Modification of Scope of Services.

Any change or modification in the Work or services specifically described in this Contract shall adhere to the Change Order process described herein. Either Party may initiate a Change Order by a notice to the other Party setting forth the proposed Change Order.

20.1 Definitions.

"Change" means a modification of the Work which may or may not lead to a price and/or schedule adjustment of this Contract. "Change Order" means a formal written Change to this Contract. "Instruction to Proceed" means the written document issued by the Commission in order to authorize the execution of a Change whose time and cost impacts have been agreed to in writing by the Commission and Contractor. A "Request for Change" (RFC) is a written document issued by Contractor in accordance with this Contract requesting a Change. A "Request for Quotation" (RFQ) is a written document issued by the Commission in order to know the price and/or schedule impacts of a potential Change before issuing or agreeing to an Instruction to Proceed.

20.2 Allowable Changes.

Contract Changes will only be allowed to address (a) variances in the original quantities tabulated pursuant to this Contract, provided however, the variances are due to a change in the Scope as required by the Commission (by way of example and not by limitation, if the quantity increases because Contractor's solution as set forth in the Proposal does not meet the requirements of the Scope, then any increase in quantity may not be subject to a Change Order); (b) variances in the Work where there is a different functionality beyond that contained in the Scope and for which there is no appropriate pay item or category (the Parties understanding that such additional work may be subject to a new competitive procurement if deemed by the Commission to be

in its best interest); (c) a decrease in the Scope, regardless of whether there is an appropriate pay item or category; (d) addition to or reduction in the Project; (e) the decision by the Commission to cancel or otherwise reduce the scope of a Project; and (f) an extension of time to the extent a delay is caused by events listed in Section 20.8).

20.3 Ineligible Changes.

No change in or modification, termination or discharge of the Work or any component thereof, in any form whatsoever, shall be valid or enforceable unless it is in writing and signed by the Commission's Project Manager and an authorized representative of Contractor. No time relief will be available to the extent that (a) the events causing a delay are within the control of Contractor or its subcontractors or suppliers; (b) the events are due to any wrongful act, wrongful omission, negligent act or negligent omission, recklessness, willful misconduct, breach of contract or law, or violation of a Governmental Approval by Contractor or any of the Contractor Parties; or (c) the events (or the effects of such events) could have been avoided by the exercise of reasonable caution, due diligence, or other reasonable efforts by Contractor or Contractor Parties. Contractor shall perform at no additional cost to the Commission all such additions, deletions or other revisions which arise from the actions or inactions of Contractor or Contractor's subcontractors or suppliers.

20.4 Request for Quotation.

The Commission shall clearly specify in a RFQ its needs and objectives and shall provide any necessary documentation in order to enable Contractor to issue a RFC with a complete quotation and within a reasonable period of time. If Contractor considers that it cannot answer to a RFQ for whatever reason, Contractor shall notify the Commission of its decision as soon as reasonably practicable (with supporting particulars). Any RFQ shall systematically specify whether the corresponding part of the Work subject to the RFQ shall be suspended or not pending quotation by Contractor. If a RFQ specifies that the part of the Work subject to the RFQ is suspended pending quotation by Contractor, an extension of time will be automatically granted to Contractor and the ensuing costs shall be borne by the Commission irrespective of its final decision relating to the quotation submitted by Contractor. The Parties shall handle, in a diligent manner and as soon as reasonably practicable, any RFQ on the basis of the Change Order process. The Commission shall pay Contractor's reasonable and documented costs for preparing the quotation requested by the Commission if the Change is not ordered.

20.5 Request for Change.

Contractor shall issue a RFC in response to a RFQ sent by the Commission and may issue one on its own initial as specified herein. The RFC shall provide an estimate of the time and/or schedule impacts as requested by the RFQ and shall specify whether another part of the Services is impacted by the RFQ in addition to the suspended part mentioned in the RFQ. Contractor is also entitled to issue a RFC as soon as practicable when (a) Contractor considers that an event or an explicit or implicit instruction/information, whatever the nature, has a price and/or schedule impact on the Contract irrespective of any Commission RFQ; (b) the Contractor ascertains that a mistake, an omission and/or an inconsistency in the documents provided by the Commission has a price and/or schedule impact on the Contract irrespective of any Commission RFQ; (c) the Contractor proposes any modification of the contractual Services in the interest of the project. The Contractor shall estimate the ensuing price and/or schedule impacts and shall require the Commission's decision relating to the suspension or not of the

part of the Work concerned by the RFC. Failure of the Commission to answer within the period of time indicated in the RFC shall be deemed as a decision to continue to execute the Work according to the last contractual Services.

20.6 Determination.

If the Commission and the Contractor agree on the price and schedule impacts of a RFQ or a RFC, the Commission shall issue an Instruction to Proceed in order to authorize the Contractor to execute the corresponding Change. If the Parties do not agree on the price and schedule impacts of a RFQ or a RFC, the Commission shall notify the Contractor of its decision to abandon or not the RFQ or RFC as soon as reasonably practicable.

20.7 Disputed Work.

If the Parties fail to reach agreement with respect to the Change Order, the Commission may nevertheless direct Contractor to proceed with the Work included in the Change Order Proposal (which for purposes of this Section 20 shall be hereinafter referred to as "Disputed Work"). In the event of such Disputed Work, Contractor shall be obligated to proceed immediately upon notice from the Commission to perform the Disputed Work and shall be compensated by the Commission in accordance with the time and Equipment rates in the Pricing Schedules of this Contract. For Equipment purchased at any time from and after the expiration of the Warranty Period for the Maintenance Work or for Equipment needed for an authorized Change Order during the Term, the Commission will pay Contractor for the actual cost of such Equipment plus (i) a 10% markup for Equipment that costs \$100,000 or less, or (ii) a 5% markup for Equipment that costs more than \$100,000. The Contractor shall furnish weekly status reports regarding the Disputed Work, including such documentation as the Commission may require in order to support all costs of the Disputed Work. The Contractor agrees to maintain and furnish the Commission with time and materials records that will substantiate Contractor's costs related to the Disputed Work.

20.8 Delay and Extension of Time.

- (1) The Commission will only grant an extension of time if Contractor is delayed in the progress of the Work and the delay is the direct result of (a) a negligent act of the Commission, (b) the performance of work by the Commission's contractors within the Right of Way that directly disrupts Contractor's on-site Work, or (c) an event listed in Section 36.6. If and when such event occurs, then the time of completion set forth in Contractor's Schedule shall, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the Parties, be extended by an amount of time equal to the time lost as a result of the delay.
- (2) Contractor expressly agrees that Contractor's sole and exclusive remedy for delay shall be an extension of the Project Schedule and that Contractor shall not be entitled to any damages and shall make no demand for any damages. No such extension shall be made for delays occurring more than ten (10) Days before claim thereof is made in writing to the Commission. In the case of a continuing cause of delay, only one claim is necessary, but no claim for a continuing delay shall be valid unless Contractor, within ten (10) Days from the cessation of the delay, shall have given written notice to the Commission as to the amount of additional time claimed.

20.9 Commission, Other's Delays.

If Contractor alleges that the Commission's or other third party's (other than Contractor's subcontractor or suppliers) acts or omissions will result in a delay to Contractor, then no later than two (2) Business Days after the commencement of such delay, Contractor shall file a written notice with the Commission's Project Manager, detailing with specificity the nature of the cause of the delay. Failure of Contractor to furnish such notice within the specified time period shall result in Contractor's waiver of any delay claim resulting from such act or omission.

21. Intellectual Property.

21.1 General.

Contractor shall provide the Commission with the intellectual property as set forth in the Scope (the "Intellectual Property"). Intellectual Property that will be delivered to the Commission shall include all documentation along with all licenses required for the Commission to operate and maintain the System. It is understood that in order to meet the Commission's requirements under this Contract, modifications to the Intellectual Property may be necessary. The Commission shall have a license set forth below in Section 21.2 to use the Intellectual Property provided under this Contract and as modified to meet the particular requirements of this Contract. The License (defined below) allows an unlimited number of end users to use the Intellectual Property. Source Code and Source Code Documentation shall be used solely for the purposes of supporting and maintaining the Intellectual Property.

21.2 License.

For a period of five (5) years after (a) the expiration of the Term, or (b) any earlier termination of this Contract for any reason, whichever occurs later, Contractor hereby grants to the Commission for the purposes set forth in this Contract and the operation and maintenance of the System, an irrevocable, non-exclusive, royalty free, non-transferrable (except as provided below), fully paid up right and license to use, reproduce (for back-up or transition purposes), modify, adapt and disclose, and sublicense others to use, reproduce (for back-up and transition purposes), modify, and adapt on the Commission's behalf, the Intellectual Property and the Enhancements, except for COTS software and firmware that will be subject to their respective license agreements ("License").

21.2.1 Limited Right to Transfer and Usage. Notwithstanding Section 21.2, the Commission shall have the right to transfer the applicable License to a successor in the event another entity or agency is given the responsibility to maintain or otherwise operate tolls in the State of Ohio, provided that any such successor entity or agency agrees to be bound by these License terms. The License includes the right to make and have made copies of any and all software (for back-up or transition purposes), firmware and documentation and to use any and all such copies, reproductions, modifications, adaptations, improvements or derivative works for the purposes set forth in this Contract and the operation and maintenance of the TCS. Source Code and Source Code Documentation shall be licensed to the Commission pursuant to the terms in this Section 21.2.1 but only upon the occurrence of the events set forth in the Escrow Agreement (set forth in Exhibit B). There shall be no right to modify or adapt the source code except to maintain, enhance and operate the System. Such right shall not include the ability to create derivative works.

- 21.2.2 License Transfer. Contractor shall secure all required licenses from third parties, pursuant to the terms set forth above in the name of the Commission, and shall ensure that such licenses are transferable to and assignable to the Commission, without additional compensation to such third party. Contractor shall furnish the Commission with original license agreements it obtains from such third parties within five (5) Days after entering into such license agreement. Contractor shall also provide to the Commission the computer programs, disks, interfaces and documentation for all software and firmware it obtains from third parties relating to the System, and the Commission shall take title to and own the same.
- 21.2.3 Enhancements. The TCS shall be performance scalable, capable of being modified or enhanced within the system platform. The License shall include all updates, enhancements, modifications, upgrades, revisions, replacements, upgrades made to or in the place of software or any related documentation including, but not limited to, those that corrects errors, correct safety hazards, to support new computer hardware or Equipment with which the software is designed to operate, or other changes that are improvements or extensions of the Contractor's Intellectual Property provided herein, and all error corrections, patches and bug fixes and any other derivative works created by Contractor or Contracting Parties during the Term, but not thereafter ("Enhancements"). Notwithstanding the foregoing, Enhancements eligible for additional compensation is limited to those Enhancements (revisions, updates, modifications or upgrades) made after the applicable warranty period that increase software or hardware capabilities beyond the original Project specifications. Such reimbursable Enhancements are included in Contractor's maintenance services set forth in the Pricing Schedule, and do not include routine system updates, modifications or maintenance work made to the software or hardware that is required to correct errors, patches or bug fixes or to operate and maintain in accordance with the Scope.
- 21.2.4 Exclusions. Subject to the License and rights granted to the Commission pursuant to this Contract and public records disclosure matters, the Commission shall not at any time (a) sell any Contractor's Intellectual Property or use, reproduce, modify, adapt and disclose, or permit any party to use, reproduce, modify, adapt and disclose, any such Intellectual Property for any other purpose not consistent with this Contract, (b) except as expressly permitted by this Contract, create derivative works based on Contractor's Intellectual Property; (c) reverse engineer, disassemble, or decompile Contractor Intellectual Property; or (d) remove any identification or notices contained on Contractor's Intellectual Property.

21.3 Ownership.

Subject to Contractor's License rights, Contractor's Intellectual Property, including, but not limited to, Enhancements, Source Code and Source Code Documentation, shall remain exclusively the property of Contractor or Contractor Parties, as applicable, notwithstanding any delivery of copies any delivery of copies thereof to the Commission and instead shall be furnished to the Commission pursuant to the license terms set forth in this Section 21.

21.4 Benefit of Innovation.

In the event Contractor develops innovations not otherwise provided for or required in the Scope (including, Enhancements) nor tested in the market, and if the Commission and Contractor see opportunities for mutual benefit in the exploration and testing of such innovations within the framework of the Projects, then the Commission and Contractor agree to work cooperatively to explore and advance new technologies and innovations if feasible within the Commission's sole discretion. Contractor agrees to offer the Commission the opportunity to test and implement new technologies or innovations subject to the negotiation of a fair and reasonable cost for the Commission's willingness to test such innovation.

22. Work-for-Hire Product.

- 22.1 All documentation, manuals, and Work and Submittals created specifically for the System or the Commission (the "Work for Hire Product) shall be owned by the Commission as Work for Hire Product. If the Commission opts to not treat it as a Work for Hire Product, then the Contractor will own the same and the Commission shall have an unlimited, non-exclusive, transferable, sub-licensable, perpetual, fully-paid and royalty-free license to use such Work product for the Commission's business purposes, to include by way of example and not limitation, creating derivative works and decompiling.
- **22.2 Work-for-Hire Product.** Work-for-Hire Product produced under this Contract will be owned by the Commission with Contractor receiving an unlimited non-exclusive, transferable, sub-licensable perpetual, fully-paid and royalty-free license to use such Work for Hire Product for Contractor's Work under this Contract.
- 22.3 Assignment of Works for Hire Product. Except with regard to any good faith unresolved dispute between the Parties, in the event that any such Work-for-Hire Product are deemed not to be works made for hire for the Commission, the Contractor hereby irrevocably assigns to the Commission all right, title and interest in all such Work-for-Hire Product, including, without limitation, all intellectual property rights with respect thereto, and further agrees to execute and deliver such other and further assignments, certificates of originality and other documents and instruments as reasonably requested by the Commission in order for the Commission to evidence and perfect its ownership of all rights with respect thereto.
- 22.4 Confirmation of Applicability. Contractor acknowledges and agrees that the provisions of this Contract apply regardless of any disputes, payment issues or other claims that may exist between the Parties, and that the Commission's ownership of all rights with respect to such Work-for-Hire Product is unconditional. Such Work-for-Hire Product shall include any and all modifications, improvements, adaptations, revisions, updates, releases, new versions, derivative works, and documentation (including any specifications, copies, notes, summaries or analyses) comprising, based on, derived from, or related to any Work for Hire Product, including any of the foregoing that is conceived, discovered, invented, created, developed or made by Contractor or Contractor Parties.
- **22.5 Disclaimer of Contractor Rights.** None of the Contractor Parties shall have any proprietary interest in such Work-for-Hire Product. The Contractor Parties shall not assert any ownership interest or conditions to executing assignments and other documents to evidence and perfect the Commission's ownership of all rights in and to same, and any claims that the Contractor Parties may have against the Commission shall exclude claims challenging the Commission's of ownership of same.

22.6 Delivery of Partially Completed Work. All Work-for-Hire Product becomes the property of the Commission, whether such Work is completed or not. In the event this Contract is terminated or expires, all Work-for-Hire Product whether completed or not shall be delivered within ten (10) Days from the date of termination or expiration to the Commission. All drawings, technical manuals, other technical data and other material created pursuant to this Contract either by the Contractor or its subcontractors that is eligible for copyright shall be deemed to be a work for hire, and the title to and exclusive ownership of all such items shall be in the Commission to the extent not based on Contractor's Intellectual Property.

23. Intellectual Property Escrow.

The Commission and Contractor acknowledge that Contractor and Contractor Parties that supply software, source code, or other Intellectual Property may not wish to deliver the Intellectual Property directly to the Commission, and that Contractor and/or Contractor Parties desire to implement measures to protect such information from public disclosure to the extent permitted under applicable Law. Contractor further acknowledges that the Commission nevertheless must be ensured access to such Intellectual Property including, without limitation, all software source code, system design documentation and deliverables, all Enhancements to such software, documentation and deliverables, instructions to compile all software source code and all other materials and information necessary for the Commission to operate, maintain and modify the software and the System, at any time, and must be assured that the Intellectual Property is usable, released and delivered to the Commission immediately. Therefore, Contractor shall deposit the Intellectual Property with a neutral trustee. Contractor shall (a) select, subject to the Commission's prior approval, an escrow company or other neutral custodian ("Escrow Agent") engaged in the business of receiving and maintaining escrows in the Cleveland, Ohio area, or in another location the Parties agree to in writing, of Source Code or other Intellectual Property; and (b) establish an escrow (" Intellectual Property Escrow") with the Escrow Agent on terms and conditions substantially similar to the ones attached hereto as Exhibit B (Escrow Agreement) for the deposit, retention and upkeep of such abovedescribed Intellectual Property and related documentation. Intellectual Property Escrow also may include Contractor Parties as parties and may include deposit of their Intellectual Property. Contractor shall be responsible for the fees and costs of the escrow agent and the escrow. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Commission makes no representation with regard to the confidentiality of any Intellectual Property Escrow. Contractor shall provide the Commission with verification of deposit of the software source code and all Enhancements prior to Final Acceptance.

23.1 Delivery to Escrow Agent.

Contractor shall make such delivery to the Escrow Agent not later than:

- (1) for pre-existing source code and source code documentation, immediately upon execution of this Contract;
- (2) for source code and source code documentation incorporated into or used on or for the Project, prior to the applicable project Go-Live date;
- (3) for any Enhancement (including, but not limited to, update, upgrade or correction of source code and source code documentation) incorporated Into or used on or for the Project or any portion thereof, not later than fifteen (15) Days after the end of the calendar quarter in which it is first incorporated or used in any Project; and for any other Intellectual Property, on the Effective Date (if it exists as of such

date) and otherwise within fifteen (15) Days after the end of the calendar quarter in which it is first incorporated or used In connection with the Project or the Work.

23.2 Commission as Signatory.

The Commission shall be a signatory on the Intellectual Property Escrow agreement with direct rights of enforcement against Contractor and the Escrow Agent, and any relevant third party depositor of such Intellectual Property. Each escrow agreement shall provide that any amendment or supplement to such escrow agreement shall be subject to the Commission's prior written approval in its sole discretion.

23.3 Access and Inspection.

Intellectual Property Escrows shall provide rights of access and inspection to the Commission at any time.

23.4 Survival of Escrow Agreement.

The Intellectual Property Escrow shall not be terminated during the Term except by the express mutual written agreement of the Commission and Contractor. The Intellectual Property Escrows shall survive expiration or earlier termination of this Contract regardless of the reason, until such time as both Parties agree, in their respective sole discretion, that the Intellectual Property contained therein is of no further use or benefit to the Project. Should the Commission require the Intellectual Property Escrow Agreement remain open after the expiration of the Term, the Commission shall pay the fees and expenses associated with any such escrow agreement.

24. Data Access and Public Records.

24.1 Data Ownership/ Access/ Security.

All data, Transaction records, Trip records, system database and other logs, and any data collected by the TCS System, including all images, is the property of the Commission. If the data is organized and stored using COTS database or proprietary database software (often referred to as ETL – extract transfer and load) then the Contractor must provide a secure network path and web service or direct open data base connectivity (ODBC) or similar connection to the database with appropriate permissions and credentials to extract from the database or query data within the database. This includes, but is not limited to, newly inserted or updated data in the database, database backups, and archives (offline back ups). Contractor shall ensure that no unauthorized personnel will have access to individual facilities, cabinets, data and records, any personal information of existing or potential customers of the Commission.

24.2 Public Records.

The Commission constitutes a "public office" and materials submitted in response to this Contract including, but not limited to, Confidential Information, will be considered "public records" subject to disclosure under the Ohio Public Records Act found at Section 149.43 of the Ohio Revised Code, except as required by Law. In entering into this Contract, Contractor expressly acknowledges, represents, and agrees that any information submitted is subject to disclosure under Ohio Public Records Act. Contractor affirmatively represents that only the information which has been segregated and stamped as "trade secret asserted" is the subject of such a claim by Contractor; and that all other information is not subject to such a claim; and that Contractor affirmatively waives any claim to the contrary.

25. Liquidated Damages.

25.1 Time of the Essence.

Time is of the essence with regard to performance of this Contract. The Commission will assess liquidated damages for Contractor's failure to meet the items set forth in Table 25.2 below, failure to reopen the lanes as set forth in Section 25.3, or failure to meet service levels as set forth in Section A.3 and A.8 of the Scope.

25.2 Difficulty of Ascertaining Certain Damages.

The amount of liquidated damages as set forth in Section 25.1 is fixed and agreed to by and between Contractor and the Commission because both Parties agree and acknowledge the impracticability and extreme difficulty of fixing and ascertaining the true value of the damages which the Commission will sustain by failure of Contractor to meet the items set forth in Section 25.1, such as loss of revenue, service charges. interest charges, harm and inconvenience to the public, delays caused to other activities of the Commission by failure to perform this Contract, increase of inspection and administrative costs, and other damages, some of which are indefinite and not susceptible of easy proof, said amounts were actively negotiated between the Parties, and are in each instance agreed by both Parties to be a reasonable estimate of the amount of damages which the Commission will sustain in each instance and said amount shall be deducted from any monies due or that may become due to Contractor. The Parties intend that the liquidated damages constitute compensation, and not a penalty. The Parties acknowledge and agree that the Commission's harm caused by a Contractor delay would be impossible or very difficult to accurately estimate, and that the liquidated damages are a reasonable estimate of the anticipated or actual harm that might arise from Contractor's delay. Contractor's payment of the liquidated damages is Contractor's sole liability and entire obligation and the Commission's exclusive remedy for the occurrences set forth in Section 25.1.

25.2.1 Unenforceability of liquidated Damages. If any liquidated damages are found for any reason to be void, invalid or otherwise inoperative, then the Commission is entitled to claim against Contractor for any and all damages available to it at law or in equity for Contractor's failure to complete or otherwise perform the Work as set forth in this Contract.

Table 25.2

Liquidated Damages for Delay in Reaching Certain Milestone Events

Milestone Event	Scope Section	Deadline	Liquidated Damages Amount
Factory Acceptance Test Completion	A.10.7.2	TBD	\$1,000 per day
System Acceptance Test Completion	A.10.7.4	TBD	\$3,000 per day

Go Live	A.10.7.6	November 30, 2022	\$10,000 per day

25.3 Closure of Lanes; Failure to Reopen.

Should the Contractor fail to reopen lane(s) at the times specified in writing by the Commission, Contractor shall pay liquidated damages in the amount of \$5,000.00 per lane per hour or any portion thereof.

25.4 No Waiver.

Permitting the Contractor to continue and finish the Work or any part of the Work after the expiration of the time allowed for completion or after any extension of time, shall not operate as a waiver of the rights of the Commission under this Section 25 or any other section of this Contract.

25.5 Contractor and Surety Jointly and Severally Liable.

Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary, Contractor's and the Contractor's surety shall be jointly and severally liable for the liquidated damages assessed by the Commission pursuant to this Section 25. In the event Contractor and/or the Contractor's surety litigates the validity of or assessment of these liquidated damages, Contractor and the Contractor's surety, jointly and severally, shall also be liable for legal fees, expert fees, professional fees, costs, other expenses and/or damages incurred by the Commission.

26. Warranties.

26.1 Warranties.

In addition to any express warranties and implied warranties provided by law and in the Scope, Contractor hereby expressly represents and warrants the following:

(1)As to Contractor:

- a. Contractor is duly formed and validly existing under the laws of the State of [______], and Contractor is qualified to do business, and is in good standing, in the State of Ohio.
- b. Contractor has all power and authority including, but not limited to, all required licenses to carry on its present and proposed activities in Ohio, and has full power, right and authority to execute and deliver this Contract and to perform each and all of the obligations of Contractor provided for herein.
- c. Contractor will maintain its existence and remain in good standing in the State of Ohio throughout the Term of the Contract and thereafter as long as any obligations remain outstanding under this Contract.
- d. The execution, delivery and performance of the Contract has been duly authorized by all necessary [corporate, partnership or limited liability company] action of Contractor; each person executing this Contract on behalf of Contractor has been duly authorized to

- execute and deliver it on behalf of Contractor; and this Contract has been duly executed and delivered by Contractor.
- e. This Contract constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of Contractor, enforceable against Contractor in accordance with its terms, subject only to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency and similar laws affecting the enforceability of the rights of creditors generally and general principles of equity.
- f. Contractor has and will maintain in full force and effect during the Term of the Contract all required authority, licenses, certifications and permits, professional ability, skills and capacity necessary to perform the Work.
- Contractor is not now insolvent and will not be rendered insolvent g. by any of the transactions contemplated by this Contract. As used in this section, "insolvent" means that the sum of the debts and other probable liabilities of Contractor exceeds the present fair saleable value of Contractor's assets. Contractor is (a) able to pay its debts as they become due; (b) own property that has a fair saleable value greater than the amounts required to pay its debts (including a reasonable estimate of the amount of all contingent liabilities); and (c) have adequate capital to carry on its business. No transfer of property is being made and no obligation is being incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby with the intent to hinder, delay or defraud either present or future creditors of Contractor. In connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, Contractor has not incurred, nor plans to incur, debts beyond its ability to pay as they become absolute and matured.
- h. Neither the execution and delivery by Contractor of this Contract, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, is in conflict with or has resulted or will result in a default under, or a violation of, the governing or organizational documents of Contractor, any approvals or laws applicable to Contractor or any other material agreement to which Contractor is a party.
- i. There is no action, suit, proceeding, investigation or litigation pending or to Contractor's knowledge, threatened which challenges Contractor's authority to execute, deliver or perform, or the validity or enforceability of, this Contract, or which challenges or prohibits Contractor from entering into or performing under this Contract; and Contractor has disclosed to the Commission any pending and unserved or threatened action, suit, proceeding, investigation or litigation with respect to such matters of which Contractor is aware.
- j. Contractor is not in breach of any applicable law that would have an adverse effect on the performance of this Project or Contractor's ability to perform its obligations under this Contract.

- k. Contractor is the legal and valid holder of the interest attributed to Contractor under this Contract.
- Contractor has disclosed to the Commission all material information related to its ability to perform the Work and complete the Contract. Further Contractor has not omitted to disclose a material fact necessary to its ability to perform this Contract or that makes any of the representations and warranties in this Section 26.1 untrue or misleading.
- m. All documentation of every and any form, name, format and content is complete and accurate in all material respects.

(2) As to the Work:

- a. The Work shall be performed in a good and workmanlike manner in compliance with all applicable codes and safety and public health regulations.
- b. All Equipment and supplies furnished by Contractor will be new, manufactured by skilled, qualified and properly trained labor, be free and clear of all liens and encumbrances, and not violate any of the Intellectual Property rights of any third party.
- c. The Services shall be performed in a workmanlike and professional manner, consistent with the highest level of care and skill exercised by other providers of similar services in the industry.
- All hardware, Equipment, supplies and other material, including, but d. not limited to, Spare Parts, supplied under this Contract shall (a) comply with and conform to all performance, capabilities, accuracy, completeness, characteristics, specifications, configurations, standards, and functions required by the Scope; (b) have a minimum service life as set forth in the Section A.1.5 of the Scope and meet the warranty period requirements set forth in Section A.10 of the Scope, (c) be new, off the shelf, field proven and meet applicable ISO, IEEE and ANSI defined standards, as applicable, (d) conform, in all respects, to the specifications, standards, samples. descriptions. requirements. quality performance requirements, statements of work, and fit, form and function requirements furnished, specified or approved by the Commission:(e) be merchantable (as such term is defined in the UCC) and free from defects, latent or otherwise, in design, materials, and workmanship; (f) be fit and sufficient for the particular purpose intended by the Commission, of which Contractor is aware (and Contractor acknowledges that it knows of the Commission's intended use of the Equipment and that such Equipment has been selected, designed, manufactured or assembled based upon the stated use and will be fit and sufficient for the particular purposes intended by the Commission), and (g) with regard to Equipment and hardware that will either be installed in the Project or otherwise purchased by the Commission pursuant to this Contract, Contractor

will convey good, transferable and marketable title, and that all such Equipment and supplies shall be delivered to the Commission and remain free from all security interests or other liens or encumbrances. Contractor also agrees to defend the Commission's title against all persons claiming ownership or other interest in the whole or part of any such Equipment or supplies furnished to the Commission under this Contract.

- (a) with the exception of COTS, all Software that Contractor will e. use to perform the Work shall be free from defects and any update or revision to any of such software will be free from defects and will meet all specifications set forth in this Contract; (b) Contractor will, without charge to the Commission, either (i) correct any defects and make any fixes, additions, modifications or adjustments to any of such software or any update or revision to such software as may be necessary to keep the software in operating order in accordance with this Contract, or (ii) provide the Commission with an alternative that meets the specifications set forth in this Contract; and (iii) with the exception of COTS, all software provided pursuant to this Contract and any update or revision to any of such software will be free from viruses, worms, time bombs, back doors, Trap Doors, Trojan horses, all other forms of malicious code or disabling devices or the like.
- f. The labor and services to be performed hereunder will be performed on time and in accordance with the Project Milestones.
- g. All documentation, services and labor shall conform to the performance, capabilities, accuracy, completeness, characteristics, specifications, configurations, standards, and functions required by the Scope.
- h. (i) no aspect of the Work will violate or in any way infringe upon the rights of third parties, including, but not limited to, proprietary information and non-disclosure rights, or any Intellectual Property rights; (ii) Contractor is the lawful owner or license holder of all software, methods, methodologies and any pre-existing Intellectual Property used in the Work contemplated hereunder and Contractor has the right to grant the Commission access to, or use of, such software, methods, methodologies and Intellectual Property. As used in this Contract, "Intellectual Property" shall mean any and all know-how, inventions, patents, copy rights, models, designs, trademarks, trade dress, trade secrets, discoveries, regulatory filings, or other information (whether or not patentable and whether or not in tangible or intangible form), software design submittals and related documentation, and any other industrial or proprietary rights, and any documentation relating thereto, and any and all applications for any of the forgoing, whether or not registered as of the Effective Date or at any later date.

26.2 Maintenance Warranty.

In addition to the foregoing warranties, Contractor represents and warrants to the Commission that for the period provided by applicable law, or for such longer period as twelve (12) months (i) after Go Live date, or (ii) the successful completion of the System Acceptance Test and Final Acceptance, the Work including, without limitation, the Equipment, will continue to function and operate as provided in the Scope.

26.3 Additional Terms.

The foregoing Warranties (a) are in addition to all other warranties, express, implied, statutory and common law, (b) extends to the Work's future performance, (c) survives delivery of the Work, the Commission's receipt, inspection, acceptance, use of the Work and payment for the Work, and the termination or expiration of this Agreement, (d) inures to the benefit of the Commission and its successors and assigns, and (e) may not be limited or disclaimed by Contractor. The Commission's approval of Contractor's designs, materials, processes, drawings, specifications or similar requirements will not be construed to relieve Contractor of any warranties.

26.4 Third Party Warranties.

Contractor shall transfer and assign to the Commission all of its rights (but not any obligations) under all warranties from equipment or material manufacturers or suppliers, permitted subcontractors or other third parties for any and all items of Work furnished to the Commission.

26.5 Survival.

The representations and warranties of Contractor contained in this Section 26 of this Contract shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Contract.

27. Warranty Cure Process.

During the maintenance warranty period set forth in Section 26.2, upon discovery of defective Work, Contractor shall be responsible to repair or replace the defective Work at no additional cost to the Commission.

27.1 Contractor Duty to Remedy.

Contractor shall, within the time periods designated in this Contract, correct, remedy, replace, re-execute, supply omitted or defective Work and pay for any damage to other work resulting therefrom, without expense to the Commission, including but not limited to, shipping and delivery costs and labor costs. If the Scope does not specify a warranty cure period, then Contractor shall replace any defective item of Work, including Deliverables, furnished in breach of this Contract, no later than five (5) Business Days after the date of the Commission's written notification thereof.

27.2 Extension of Time to Cure.

If the Commission believes Contractor is using its best efforts to make good the deficiency, correct, or remedy defective Work, or supply any omitted Work, then the Commission, in its sole discretion and taking into consideration the Commission's general business concerns and the need to ensure that there are no delays to the Project Schedule, Milestone Schedule and any other contractor's schedules, or

operation of the toll system, may extend the respective cure period set forth in its notice to Contractor.

27.3 The Commission Cure.

The Commission reserves the right to cure any defective Work if Contractor does not remove, correct or make good the deficiency, remedy defective Work, or supply any omitted Work within the time periods set forth under this Contract. If no time is set in the Scope or this Contract then unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the Parties, then the Commission may remove the Work, correct the Work, remedy the Work or supply omitted Work. The Commission shall provide written notice of its intent to cure at the expense of the Contractor. If the Commission has not yet made payment to Contractor, then the Commission may deduct the cost thereof from any payment then or thereafter due and owing the Contractor. If final payment has been made to Contractor, then Contractor shall reimburse the cost to the Commission within thirty (30) Days of written demand therefore by the Commission. In case of emergency involving health, safety of property or safety of life, the Commission may proceed at once and without notice to Contractor and Contractor shall remain responsible for the cost thereof.

28. Indemnification.

28.1 Generally.

Contractor shall indemnify, pay for the defense and hold harmless the Commission, its Commission members, officers, directors, employees, affiliates, agents, successors, assigns, and the Commission Related Parties ("Indemnified Parties"), from and against any and all liability, including claims, demands, losses, damages, deficiencies, actions, settlements, judgments, interest, awards, penalties, fines, costs and expenses (including, but not limited to, reasonable attorney's fees, any costs of investigation or defense, fees and the costs of enforcing any right to indemnification under this Contract and the cost of pursuing any insurance providers) of every kind and description (collectively, "Losses"), whether directly or indirectly, relating to, arising out of or in connection with:

- the acts, errors, omissions, undertakings, representations or warranties of Contractor or the Contractor Related Parties, or its or their respective officers, owners, directors, employees, agents, independent contractors, suppliers or subcontractors;
- (2) the breach, failure or non-fulfillment of Contractor's obligations under this Contract, including without limitation breach of any warranty in Section 26 or failure to maintain any insurance requirements;
- (3) any negligent or more culpable act or omission of Contractor, Contractor Related Parties, or any of its or their respective officers, owners, directors, employees, agents, independent contractors, suppliers or subcontractors (including any recklessness or willful misconduct) in connection with Contractor's performance under this Contract;
- (4) any bodily injury, death of any person or damage to real or tangible personal property caused by the willful or negligent acts or omissions of Contractor, Contractor Related Parties, or any of its or their respective officers, owners, directors, employees, agents, independent contractors, suppliers or

- subcontractors including, without limitation, damage to vehicles from Equipment malfunctions, including without limitation, toll plaza lane gate(s); and
- (5) any failure by Contractor, Contractor Related Parties, or any of its or their respective officers, owners, directors, employees, agents, independent contractors, suppliers or subcontractors to comply with any applicable Laws.

28.2 Intellectual Property Indemnification.

Contractor represents and warrants that it will have at all times while performing the Work and the Commission will have, upon completion of the Work, all necessary Intellectual Property rights to all Work including, without limitation, Deliverables, furnished by Contractor under this Contract and that all Work, as a whole and each of its components shall not misappropriate any or Infringe upon any third party intellectual property right. In case any component of the Work constitutes a misappropriation or an infringement of the United States patent rights or copyrights or other intellectual property rights of a third party and its use is enjoined, Contractor at the Contractor's sole cost and expense, shall promptly (a) secure for the Commission, its representatives, agents, and designees the right to continue using the infringing item by suspension of the injunction or by procuring a perpetual, non-revocable, paid-up, royalty-free, assignable, non-exclusive license to reproduce, publish, or otherwise use for the Commission's purposes as contemplated herein; or (b) replace the infringing item with a non-infringing substitute that meets the requirements and fulfills the purpose under this Contract; or (c) modify the infringing item so that it becomes non-infringing provided the resulting Work meets the requirements of this Contract. If the amount of time necessary to proceed with one of these options is deemed excessive by the Commission, the Commission may direct Contractor to select another option (and failure to do so will be an Event of Default under this Contract). Nothing in this Section shall be deemed to limit or condition the Commission's rights otherwise set forth in this Contract, including, without limitation, termination of this Contract and damages. Contractor shall defend all suits or claims for misappropriation or infringement of any Intellectual Property rights and shall pay for the defense of and, indemnify, save and hold the Commission, its agents, employees, representatives, and assigns harmless from any and all Losses on account thereof resulting from the use by the Commission or any of its agents, employees, representatives and assigns of Equipment or Deliverables supplied or Work performed under this Contract.

28.3 Obligations Not Mutually Exclusive.

The Contractor's obligations under this Section 28 are in addition to Contractor's obligations under Section 33 (Insurance) of this Contract. Such obligations shall not be limited by the types, terms, conditions, or limits of liability of any insurance purchased and maintained.

28.4 Waiver.

Contractor, for itself, its successors and assigns and the Contractor Related Parties does hereby waive, as a complying employer, any immunity provided for under the provisions of the Constitution or statutes of the State of Ohio pertaining to Workers' Compensation, solely with respect to claims brought against the Commission by Contractor's employees, whereby Contractor could preclude its joinder by such indemnified party as an additional defendant, or avoid liability for damages, contribution, defense, or indemnity in any action at law, or otherwise, where

Contractor's employee or employees, heirs, assigns or anyone otherwise entitled to receive damages by reason of injury or death brings an action at law against the Commission. Contractor's obligation to the Commission herein shall not be limited by any limitation on the amount or type of damages, benefits or compensation payable by or for Contractor under any worker's compensation acts, disability benefit acts, or other employee benefit acts on account of claims against the Commission by an employee of Contractor or anyone employed directly or indirectly by Contractor or anyone for whose acts Contractor may be liable. This section shall survive termination or expiration of this Contract for any reason.

28.5 Application; Survival.

This indemnification extends to the successors and assigns of the Contractor. This indemnification obligation survives the expiration or termination of this Contract and the dissolution or, to the extent allowed by Law, the bankruptcy of the Contractor. Contractor shall waive and shall not assert any claim against the Commission for any injury to persons, whether or not resulting in death, or any loss or damage to property occurring from any cause unless such injury, loss or damage is due solely to the negligence of the Commission, its agents or employees. Should the Commission elect to have the Contractor defend one or more of the Indemnified Parties, the Commission shall have the right, but not the obligation, to associate in such defense, whether directly or through outside legal counsel, or both.

28.6 Indemnification Control.

The Commission shall control the defense of any claim against the Commission, and Contractor shall reimburse and pay the Commission for all costs and expenses of such defense as and when they occur, whether or not Contractor shall be joined therein, and Contractor shall reasonably cooperate with the Commission in such defense. The Commission shall have charge and direction of the defense and settlement of such claim.

29. Limitation of Liability.

The Commission shall not, under any circumstances, be liable for any incidental, consequential, special, punitive, exemplary or indirect damages, lost business profits or lost data arising out of this Contract, even if the Commission is informed of the possibility of such damages. The Commission's liability to Contractor, if any, shall be limited to direct damages and in such case, only to the extent of the amount the Commission has paid to or owes Contractor under this Contract for the twelve months immediately preceding Contractor's claim.

30. [Intentionally Omitted]

31. Default; Remedies.

31.1 Events of Default.

Subject to relief from its performance obligations pursuant to Section 20.8 of this Contract, Contractor shall be in breach under this Contract upon the occurrence of any one or more of the following events or conditions (each an "Event of Default"):

(1) Contractor (a) fails to begin the applicable Work within thirty (30) Days following issuance of Notice To Proceed, (b) fails to satisfy all conditions to commencement

- of the applicable Work, or (c) fails to commence such Work with diligence and continuity, by each deadline set forth in this Contract and in the Scope;
- (2) Contractor has withheld, disrupted or delayed Work or any Deliverable due to non-payment by the Commission;
- (3) Contractor fails to meet the KPIs and maintenance levels as set forth in Section A.3 of the Scope when calculated on a monthly basis for all lanes in all Toll Plazas in the same category for more than three (3) consecutive months or for more than six (6) times in any rolling twelve (12) month period;
- (4) Contractor has failed to deliver the Work or a component thereof on a timely basis except to the extent of an excusable delay in accordance with Section 20.8 of this Contract;
- (5) Contractor has assigned its rights and obligations under this Contract without Commission's prior approval or as may otherwise violate this Contract;
- (6) the Work or any component thereof has failed to meet the functional and/or performance criteria set forth in this Contract;
- (7) Contractor has failed to provide "adequate assurances" within five (5) Days of the Commission's notice, when, in the opinion of the Commission, reasonable grounds for uncertainty exist with respect to Contractor's ability to perform any of i its obligations under this Contract;
- (8) Contractor has failed to remedy defective work in accordance with Sections 26, 14 of this Contract or the Maintenance requirements set fort h in Section 3 of the Scope;
- (9) Contractor has failed to maintain bonds and insurance policies and coverages or fails to provide proof of bonds and insurance or copies of bonds and insurance policies, or fails to comply with any requirement of this Contract pertaining to the amount, terms or coverage of the same as required by Sections 33 and 34 of this Contract;
- (10) Contractor becomes insolvent or Contractor has taken advantage of any insolvency statute or debtor/ creditor Law or Contractor's property or affairs have voluntarily been put in the hands of a receiver; or any case, proceeding or other action against Contractor was commenced in bankruptcy, or seeking reorganization, liquidation or any relief under any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, liquidation, dissolution or other similar act or Law of any jurisdiction;
- (11) Contractor has failed to fully comply with the schedule or specific elements of, or actions required under any approved remedial plan furnished to the Commission pursuant to this Contract or otherwise;
- the suspension or revocation of any license, permit, or registration necessary for the performance of the Contractor's obligations under this Contract;
- (13) the Contractor has suspended or failed to proceed with any properly authorized part of the Work;

- (14) the default in the performance or observance of any of Contractor's other obligations under this Contract;
- (15) any representation or covenant in this Contract including, but not limited to, in the Scope, made by Contractor, or any certificate, schedule, report, instrument or other document delivered by or on behalf of Contractor to the Commission pursuant to this Contract is false, misleading or inaccurate, in a material respect, when made or omits material information when made; or
- (16) after exhaustion of all rights of appeal, there occurs any suspension or debarment (distinguished from ineligibility due to lack of financial qualifications), or there goes into effect an agreement for voluntary exclusion, from bidding, proposing or contracting with any federal or State department or agency of (a) Contractor, (b) any member of Contractor with a material financial obligation owing to Contractor for equity or shareholder loan contributions, (c) any affiliate of Contractor for whom transfer of ownership would constitute a Change of Control, or (d) any Key Contractor whose work is not completed.

31.2 Cure Period.

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, other than a monetary payment default which shall have no cure period, if the Event of Default is capable of being cured, then Contractor shall have a period of ten (10) Days from the occurrence of the Event of Default to cure such default to the satisfaction of the Commission, in its sole discretion. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, whether or not such Event of Default may be cured, the Commission has the right to all damages available to it under this Contract including but not limited to Section 25 above, or at law or in equity.

31.3 Commission Damages/Remedies.

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Commission may, in addition to and without prejudice to all other contractual remedies and/or remedies allowed at Law or in equity, proceed to take any or all of the following actions:

- (1) withhold any money then due and/or thereafter due to Contractor;
- (2) perform or cause to be performed for the account of Contractor any contractual covenant in the performance of which Contractor is in default or make any payment for which Contractor is in default. Contractor shall pay to the Commission upon demand any amount paid or incurred by the Commission in the performance of such covenant. Any amounts which have been paid or incurred by reason of failure of Contractor to comply with any covenant or provision of this Contract shall bear interest at the default rate, which shall be defined as the Prime Rate plus five percent (5%), but in no case higher than the highest rate permitted by Law, from the date of payment by the Commission until paid by Contractor. Upon request, the Commission will provide reasonable documentation substantiating any claim for payment under this Subsection;
- (3) the Commission or the Commission designated representatives shall have the right to immediately take possession of any or all of the materials, tools, technical specifications, drawings, Equipment, supplies and property of every kind, provided, purchased, maintained, leased, owned, or rented by the Contractor, including but not limited to the Source Code, and the Equipment and hardware either paid for by the Commission, used by Contractor to perform Work or

otherwise stored by the Commission or at the Project site; make available any or all of the foregoing items to a third party provider and/or procure other materials, plant, tools, Equipment, and supplies and charge the Contractor therefor and the Contractor shall be liable to the Commission for the expense of said labor, materials, plant, tools, Equipment, supplies and property; provided that in the Commission's reasonable opinion these expenses are necessary in order to satisfactorily perform the Work. The Commission will provide to Contractor an itemized invoice reflecting such expenses. Notwithstanding the above, the Commission will not take possession vehicles leased by Contractor.

- (4) collect lost revenue and other direct damages that were the result of the Event of Default. In the event that the Commission is unable to determine lost business revenue because data is lost or otherwise unavailable, then the Parties agree that lost business revenue shall be based on historical traffic figures and revenues maintained by the Commission;
- (5) obtain the Work, or a portion thereof, from a third party under similar terms of this Contract, and recover from Contractor all additional costs and expenses paid or incurred by the Commission as a result of the Event of Default, plus all additional costs paid or incurred by the Commission to obtain the replacement Work as set forth in Section 31.3 of this Contract;
- (6) terminate this Contract, in whole or in part, with no liability or recourse to the Commission; and
- (7) reduce the Scope of Services or the Work as determined by the Commission.

31.4 Commission Default.

Subject to the Commission's exercise of its withholding rights and other remedies and rights under this Contract, if the Commission fails to pay Contractor undisputed invoices when due under this Contract and fails to make such payments within ninety (90) Days of receipt of written notice from Contractor of the failure to make such payment, Contractor may, by giving written notice to the Commission, terminate this Contract as of a date specified in the notice of termination. Contractor shall not have the right to terminate the Contract for the Commission's breach of the Contract except as specifically provided in this Section 31.4. In the event of termination of this Contract by Contractor for the Commission's default as provided in this Section 31.4, the Commission shall be liable only for payments required by the terms of this Contract for Work which has been performed satisfactorily according to this Contract, any restocking fees actually and reasonably Incurred by Contractor for any Work ordered but not used on the Project, and reasonable and actual wind down costs.

32. Termination

32.1 Termination for Cause.

Upon an Event of Default, the Commission may, in its sole discretion, terminate this Contract in whole or in part. Termination shall take effect on the date set forth in the Commission's notice to Contractor, which shall be no less than ten (10) Days after the date of such notice. Upon such termination the Commission shall not be required to pay Contractor any amounts for Work performed prior to the date of termination for which payment may be due and owing but not yet paid ("Remaining Payment"). In the event the Commission's expenses incurred or anticipated to be incurred as a result of

Contractor's breach are less than the Remaining Payment, the Commission shall remit such differential to Contractor. In the event the Commission's expenses incurred or anticipated to be incurred as a result of Contractor's breach exceed the Remaining Payment, then Contractor shall within thirty (30) Days of written notice from the Commission, make payment of the differential to the Commission. In addition to the rights and remedies in this Section 32.1, the Commission shall have all other rights and remedies against Contractor which are available at Law or in equity.

32.2 Termination for Convenience.

The Commission may terminate this Contract, in whole or in part, for convenience, with or without cause, upon 30 Days written notice, which shall commence upon the date included in the notice. All Work, including Deliverables, shall at the Commission's option become the property of the Commission upon receipt of payment by Contractor for the amount owed for such item of Work. The Commission shall only pay Contractor for Work performed through the termination date, any restocking fees actually and reasonably incurred by Contractor for any Work ordered but not used on the Project, and reasonable and actual wind-down costs. The Commission shall not be responsible for any other costs, fees and expenses of any nature whatsoever, including but not limited to administrative fees, legal fees, salary, or any other cost or expense, whether direct or indirect, whether foreseen or unforeseen. Contractor acknowledges that the remedy set forth in this Section 32. 2 is Contractor's sole and exclusive remedy against the Commission for termination for convenience and Contractor hereby waives all other rights and remedies it may have against the Commission for termination for convenience.

32.3 Pre-existing Liability.

No termination of this Contract shall excuse either Party from any liability arising out of any default as provided in this Contract that occurred prior to termination.

32.4 Termination Procedures and Duties.

Upon expiration of the Term or any earlier termination of this Contract as provided herein, the provisions of this Section 32.4 shall apply. Contractor shall timely comply with such provisions independently of, and without regard to, the timing for determining, adjusting, settling and paying any amounts due Contractor or the Commission on account of such termination.

- 32.4.1 Within three (3) Business Days after receipt of a notice of termination, Contractor shall meet and confer with the Commission for the purpose of developing an interim transition plan for the orderly transition of Work, demobilization and transfer of the Project control to the Commission. The Parties shall use diligent efforts to complete preparation of the interim transition plan within a reasonable timeframe, taking into consideration the Commission's business needs. The Parties shall use diligent efforts to complete a final transition plan within thirty (30) Days after such date. The transition plan shall be in form and substance acceptable to the Commission in its good faith discretion and shall include and be consistent with the other provisions and procedures set forth in this Section 32.4, all of which procedures Contractor shall immediately follow, regardless of any delay in preparation or acceptance of the transition plan.
- 32.4.2 On the termination date, or as soon thereafter as is possible, Contractor shall relinquish and surrender full control and possession of the Project to the Commission, and shall cause all persons and entities claiming under or through

Contractor to do likewise, in at least the condition required by the termination turnover requirements set forth in the transition plan. On the later of the termination date or the date Contractor relinquishes full control and possession, the Commission shall assume responsibility, at its expense, for the Project, subject to any rights to damages that the Commission has against Contractor where the termination is due to an Event of Default.

- 32.4.3 Within thirty (30) Days after notice of termination is delivered, Contractor shall provide the Commission with true and complete list of all materials, goods, machinery, Equipment, parts, supplies and other property in inventory or storage (whether held by Contractor or any person or entity on behalf of or for the account of Contractor) for use in or respecting the Work, the System or the Project, or on order or previously completed but not yet delivered from supplier(s) for use in or respecting the Work, the System or the Project. In addition, on or about the termination date, Contractor shall transfer title and deliver to the Commission or the Commission's designee, through bills of sale or other documents of title, as directed by the Commission, all such materials, goods, machinery, Equipment, parts, supplies and other property, provided the Commission assumes in writing all of Contractor's obligations under any contracts relating to the foregoing that arise after the termination date.
- 32.4.4 Contractor shall take all action that may be necessary, or that the Commission may direct, for the protection and preservation of the Project, the Work and such materials, goods, machinery, Equipment, parts, supplies and other property.
- 32.4.5 On or about the Termination Date, Contractor shall execute and deliver to the Commission the following, together with an executed bill of sale or other written instrument, in form and substance acceptable to the Commission, acting reasonably, assigning and transferring to the Commission all of Contractor's right, title and interest in and to the following:
 - (1) all completed or partially completed drawings (including plans, elevations, sections, details and diagrams), specifications, designs, design documents, as-built and record plans, surveys, and other documents and information pertaining to the design or construction of the Project;
 - (2) all books, records, reports, test reports, studies and other documents of a similar nature relating to the Work and the Project;
 - (3) all data and information relating to the use of the Project, including all studies, reports, and other information provided that the transfer of any Intellectual Property shall be subject to Sections 21.2 and 23 of this Contract; and
 - (4) all other work product and Intellectual Property used or owned by Contractor or any Affiliate relating to the Work, the Project, provided that the transfer of any Intellectual Property shall be subject to Sections 21.2 and 23 of this Contract.
- 32.4.6 Contractor shall otherwise assist the Commission in such manner as the Commission may require prior to and for a reasonable period following the termination date to ensure the orderly transition of the Project and its management to the Commission, and shall, if appropriate and if requested by the Commission,

take all steps as may be necessary to enforce the provisions of Contractor's agreements with the Contractor Parties pertaining to the surrender of the Project.

33. Insurance.

33.1 Requirements.

Contractor and each of its consultants, general contractors, contractors or subcontractors (collectively "Subcontractors"), shall purchase and maintain at their own expense, or cause to be purchased and maintained, throughout the term of this Project, the insurance as specified below and in Appendix F (Insurance Requirements) of this Contract. All insurance required hereunder shall apply to and cover loss, damages, or liability caused by, arising from, or resulting from the services performed or required to be performed, provided or required to be provided, hereunder.

33.2 Evidence of Insurance.

Contractor shall submit to the Commission within ten (10) Days after award of the Request for Proposal, and prior to commencement of the Work, and periodically as requested by the Commission, Accord certificates evidencing the effectiveness of the insurance policies required herein. Contractor shall, within fifteen (15) Days of the Commission's request during the term of this Request for Proposal, provide the Commission with a full and complete copy of all insurance policies purchased and maintained by Contractor pursuant to this Project.

All policies for insurance must be endorsed to contain a provision giving the Commission a thirty (30) day prior written notice of any cancellation, conditional renewal, or non-renewal of that policy. Contractor shall provide thirty (30) day prior written notice to the Commission of any material change in coverage. A material change in coverage includes any change that reduces the limits, terms, and/or conditions below those required within this Request for Proposal. Should a notice of cancellation be issued for non-payment of premiums or any part thereof, or should Contractor fail to provide sufficient proof of insurance coverage as set forth herein, the Commission shall have the right, but shall not have the obligation, to pay such premium to the insurance company or to obtain such coverage and to deduct such payment from any sums that may be due or become due to Contractor, or to seek reimbursement for said payments from Contractor.

Annually for a period of ten (10) years after substantial completion of the services under this Project, Contractor, upon written request from the Commission, shall promptly provide the Commission with certificates of insurance evidencing the effectiveness of the insurance coverages required pursuant to this Request for Proposal, and if requested by the Commission, original copies of the complete policies, including all endorsements.

the Commission's review or receipt of any evidence of insurance purchased and maintained by Contractor, shall not constitute the Commission's approval of such insurance or the Commission's agreement that such insurance satisfies the insurance requirements set forth in this Contract.

33.3. Deductibles.

Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any and all deductible(s) or retention(s) under the policy or policies of insurance purchased and maintained by it pursuant to this Request for Proposal.

33.4 Additional Insured.

the Commission, and their board members, officers, administrators, members, employees, representatives, agents, and consultants shall be included as additional insureds on Contractor's Commercial General Liability policy, Automobile policy, and Excess/Umbrella Liability policy. The extent of the additional insured coverage shall be no less broad than that provided under ISO Form CG 20 26 11/85 for General Liability (or a substitute form providing equivalent coverage, including the combination of CG 20 10 10/01 and CG 20 37 10/01) and Umbrella/Excess Liability and ISO Form CA 20 48 02/99 for Auto Liability. The additional insured coverage afforded under Contractor policies shall include both ongoing operations (work in progress) and completed operations (completed work). Additional insured coverage shall be maintained for a minimum of ten (10) years after substantial completion of the services under this Request for Proposal. Such endorsements may be issued on a blanket basis. All of Contractor's liability insurance with respect to which a person or entity is required to be an Additional Insured pursuant to this Agreement shall exhaust prior to the exhaustion, erosion, or application of any insurance or self-insurance maintained by the persons or entities who are Additional Insureds pursuant to this Agreement, and Contractor shall take all measures, whether by endorsement or rider to the policy(ies) or otherwise to ensure its policy(ies) will operate accordingly, including, if needed to satisfy this requirement, an amendment to the Excess Umbrella policy's(ies') Other Insurance provision.

33.5. Primary Coverage.

The insurance coverage to be purchased and maintained by Contractor as required by this Request for Proposal shall be primary to any insurance, self-insurance, or self-funding arrangement maintained by the Commission, which shall not contribute therewith, and there shall be severability of interests under the insurance policies required by this Request for Proposal for all coverages provided under said insurance policies and otherwise provide cross liability coverage.

33.6. Insurer Rating.

All insurance required to be purchased and maintained by Contractor shall be placed and maintained with insurance companies rated, currently and for at least the previous two years, at least equal to the AM Best's Rating of A-, financial size of IX, licensed to do business in Ohio; and where commercially feasible, admitted to do business in Ohio.

33.7. No Limitation.

The types and limits of insurance to be purchased and maintained by Contractor pursuant to this Request for Proposal shall not be deemed to constitute a limitation of Contractor's liability or indemnification obligations hereunder.

33.8. Purchase of Insurance.

If Contractor fails to purchase, maintain, and continue in force insurance in the types and with limits of liability required by this Request for Proposal, the Commission may purchase such insurance and the cost thereof shall be borne by Contractor. The General Liability, Workers' Compensation, Contractors' Pollution Liability and Professional Liability insurance required herein to be purchased and maintained by

Contractor shall be and remain in force for not fewer than the ten (10) years after substantial completion of the services under this Request for Proposal.

33.9 Notice of Occurrence.

Upon Contractor's knowledge of any occurrence, event, or claim that may reasonably exceed \$50,000, or be expected to exceed \$50,000, or which may reduce or materially affect the aggregate amount of insurance coverage available to the Commission pursuant to this Request for Proposal, Contractor shall (a) immediately provide the Commission with written notice of such occurrence, event or third-party claim(s) with reasonable detail, and (b) to the extent reasonably commercially available, promptly obtain replacement insurance for the eroded aggregate limit and provide the Commission with evidence thereof.

33.10 Waiver of Subrogation.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, and subject to the clause below in this section regarding the Commission's Property insurance deductible, Contractor on behalf of itself and its board members, officers, administrators, members. employees, representatives, agents, and consultants, and the Commission and its board members, officers, administrators, members, employees, representatives, agents, and consultants, hereby expressly waive all rights of recovery against each other, and their insurer's(s') rights of subrogation, for damages caused by fire or other causes of loss to the extent covered by Property insurance obtained or required to be obtained (whichever is broader) pursuant to this Request for Proposal. the Commission and all parties the Commission or Contractor engage relative to the Project shall require of their respective Subcontractors, and any sub-Subcontractors or sub-sub-Subcontractors, by appropriate agreements, written where legally required for validity, similar waivers each in favor of the other parties enumerated herein. The policies shall provide such waivers by endorsement or otherwise. A waiver of right of recovery or subrogation shall be effective as to a person or entity even though that person or entity would otherwise have a duty of indemnification, contractual or otherwise, did not pay the insurance premium directly or indirectly, and whether or not the person or entity had an insurable interest in the property damaged. The waivers expressed in this section shall not apply with respect to any deductible or retention existing in the Property insurance purchased and maintained by the Commission pursuant to this Request for Proposal.

33.11 Third Party Over.

In any and all claims against the Commission, the indemnification obligations of Contractor in this Contract shall not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or type of damage, compensation or benefits payable by or for Contractor under Workers' Compensation Acts, disability benefits or other employee benefit acts. As between the Commission and Contractor, Contractor waives its immunities under Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4123, Article 3 of the Ohio Constitution or any similar Workers' Compensation statutory immunity for purposes of conforming the indemnity obligations of this Request for Proposal. Contractor shall require of its respective Subcontractors, and any sub-Subcontractors or sub-sub-Subcontractors, by appropriate agreements, written where legally required for validity, similar waivers each in favor of the other parties enumerated herein.

34. Bonds.

34.1 Performance and Payment Bond.

Contractor shall furnish a performance and payment bond in in a form satisfactory to the Commission at the time of Contract execution (the "Performance and Payment Bond"). The Performance and Payment Bond must be in an amount equal to at least 100% of this Contract's TCS implementation cost, plus any Change Orders. The Performance and Payment Bond shall provide for payment to the Commission in the event the Contractor fails to perform any of the terms and conditions of the Contract, at any time during the Term.

34.2 Maintenance Bond.

The Contractor shall also furnish a maintenance bond in a form satisfactory to the Commission within 10 days of the Effective Date (the "Maintenance Bond"). The Maintenance Bond must be in an amount equal to at least 100% of this Contract's TCS maintenance cost for the Initial Term. The Maintenance Bond shall provide for payment to the Commission in the event Contractor fails to perform any of the terms and conditions of the maintenance obligations under this Contract, at any time during the Initial Term.

34.3 Bond Requirements.

In addition to the requirements set forth in Sections 34.1 and 34.2, as applicable, each of the Performance and Payment Bond and the Maintenance Bond shall be furnished by a surety authorized to conduct business in the State of Ohio, and shall remain in effect throughout the term of this Contract. Provided the Initial Term has not expired, the Performance and Payment Bond shall be released and returned to the Contractor at the later of (i) one year after Go-Live (as defined in the Scope) or (ii) upon successful completion of the System Acceptance Test (as defined in the Scope).

34.4 Required Qualifications for Surety.

The surety and insurance companies must be acceptable to the Commission. Only those sureties listed in the Department of Treasury's Listing of Approved Sureties (Department Circular 570) are acceptable to the Commission. All bonds at the time of issuance must be issued by a company authorized by the Insurance the Commissioner to transact the business of suretyship in the State of Ohio, and shall have a Best Policyholders Rating of "A-" or better and with a financial size rating of Class V or larger.

35. Records Retention and Audit Rights.

- **35.1.** In addition to audit obligations as set forth in the Scope, Contractor shall and shall cause each Contractor Party to maintain accurate books, records, documents and other evidence concerning Contractor's performance of Work under this Contract (hereinafter referred to as the "Records") during the Term of this Contract Contractor agrees to make available, at all reasonable times the Records for inspection or audit by any authorized representative of the Commission upon seven (7) Days' notice.
- 35.2 Within no more than sixty (60) Business Days after the termination of this Contract for any reason, upon written request to Contractor, copies of all Records shall be given to the Commission. Records that relate to litigation, appeals or the settlements of claims arising out of the performance of this Contract, or costs and expenses of any such agreement as to which exception has been taken by the Commission's Auditor or any of his or her duly authorized representatives, shall be retained by Contractor until such

appeals, litigation, claims or exceptions have been disposed. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary stated in this provision, nothing in this Section 35 shall obligate Contractor to provide its internal cost data for review or for audit. The Commission shall also at all times during the Term of this Contract have the right to conduct the monitoring and auditing Contractor's books and records to determine compliance with requirements of this Contract and the approved Project Management Plan, including audit review of Design Documents, Plan, Construction Documents and other Submittals.

36. General Provisions.

36.1 Compliance with Laws.

The Contractor shall perform its obligations hereunder, and shall ensure that all of its subcontractors perform their obligations, in accordance with all applicable federal, State, and local government Laws, rules, regulations, orders and approvals, including but not limited to procedures and requirements relating to labor standards, compliance with Americans with Disabilities Act, and auditing and reporting provisions, now or hereafter in effect, and any rules required by any federal grant funding payment by the Commission. Any changes to applicable laws, rules, or regulations that are enacted after contract award may be the subject of a Change Order only if a change to applicable Laws, rules, or regulations results in an actual and direct increase in cost to Contractor to comply with such changes.

36.2 Conflicts of Interest.

Contractor represents and warrants that it, its principals, its employees, and all others in close association with it, have no conflict of interest or of time, directly or indirectly, that would prevent timely performance of the Work or the performance of Work in a manner that is free of appearance or fact of impropriety. Contractor promises not to allow such conflict to arise and promises to disclose such a conflict in the event that one develops.

36.3 Non-Collusion.

Contractor shall execute and deliver to the Commission the Non-Collusion Affidavit (attached hereto as Exhibit C) simultaneously with the execution and delivery of this Contract. Contractor covenants that it presently has no interest and shall not acquire any interest, direct or indirect, which would conflict in any manner or degree with the performance of services required to be performed under this Contract. Contractor further covenants that no person having any such interest shall be employed in the performance of this Contract.

36.4 Assignment.

Contractor shall not assign, delegate, sublet or transfer this Contract or any rights under this Contract without the prior written consent of the Commission, which may be withheld for any reason. Any purported assignment or delegation in violation of this Section is null and void. No assignment or delegation Contractor of any of its obligations under this Contract

36.5 Parties Bound.

This Contract will legally bind the successors, and assigns of each Party.

36.6 Force Majeure.

Neither Party shall be liable to the other Party for any delay or failure of performance due to the occurrence of any of the following events that materially and adversely affects performance of Contractor's or the Commission's obligations, provided that such events (or the effects of such events) could not have been avoided by the exercise of caution, due diligence, or reasonable efforts by the affected Party (a) war (including civil war and revolution), invasion, armed conflict, violent act of foreign enemy, military or armed blockade, or military or armed takeover of the Project, in each case occurring within the State; (b) any act of terrorism or sabotage that causes direct physical damage to the Project; (c) nuclear explosion or contamination, in each case occurring within the State; (d) riot and civil commotion on the immediate vicinity of the Project; (e) fire, explosion, flood, earthquake, hurricane, or tornado, in each case that causes direct physical damage to the Project; or (f) national or statewide (i.e., State of Ohio) strike that has a direct adverse impact on the Contractor's ability to obtain materials, Equipment or labor for the Project. Contractor's exclusive remedies for Force Majeure are set forth in Section 20.8 of this Contract

36.7 Notices.

All notices or communications required or permitted as a part of the Contract shall be in writing (unless another verifiable medium is expressly authorized) and shall be deemed delivered when (1) actually received; (2) if not actually received, three (3) Days after transmittal evidenced by mail receipt by the United States Postal Service with proper postage affixed and addressed to the respective other party at the address set out below or such other address as the party may have designated by notice to the other party; or (3) upon physical delivery to the Party's respective physical address. The addresses of the Parties are as follows:

In the case of the Commission:
Ohio Turnpike and Infrastructure Commission
Audit and Internal Control
Attn: David J. Miller

682 Prospect Street Berea, Ohio 44017

david.miller@ohioturnpike.org

with a copy to:

Ohio Turnpike and Infrastructure Commission

General Counsel

Attn: Jennifer L. Stueber, Esq.

682 Prospect Street Berea, Ohio 44017

jennifer.stueber@ohioturnpike.org

In the case of the Contractor: with a copy to:

Attn: Fax: Phone: E-Mail:

36.8 Federal Intellectual Property Bankruptcy Protection Act.

The Commission shall be entitled to all rights and benefits of the Federal Intellectual Proper ty Bankruptcy Protection Act, Public Law 100-506, codified at 11 U.S.C. 365(n) and any amendments thereto.

36.9 Governing Law and Venue.

- **36.9.1 Governing Law.** This Contract is made under the Laws of the State of Ohio and shall be enforced according to Ohio Law without regard to its conflict of Laws rules or any other rules directing referral to foreign Law or forums.
- 36.9.2 Uniform Commercial Code. Except to the extent provisions of the Contract are clearly inconsistent therewith, the applicable provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code as modified and adopted by the State shall govern this Contract. To the extent the Contract entails both the supply of goods and services such shall be deemed goods within the meaning of the Uniform Commercial Code, except when deeming such services as goods would result in a clearly unreasonable interpretation.
- 36.9.3 Venue. Any action arising out of or related to this Contract in any way shall be brought exclusively in the Federal or State courts sitting in Cuyahoga County, Ohio, and each Party hereby consents to the jurisdiction and venue of such Court and the appropriate appellate courts therefrom in any such action and irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by Law, any objection that it may now or hereafter have to the personal jurisdiction and venue of such court and to any claim of inconvenient forum. Each Party hereby agrees to execute an acknowledgment of service of process at the request of the other Party in any litigation related to this Contract. In the event that a Party does not provide an acknowledgment of service as agreed, each Party consents to service of process at that Party's address set forth in Section 36.7 of this Contract

36.10 Publicity.

Neither party may use the name or any data, pictures, or other representation of the other party in connection with any advertising or publicity materials or activities without the prior written consent of the other party. Contractor shall not issue a press release or otherwise publicize the Work or this Contract without the prior written permission of the General Counsel. However, Contractor may include the Commission's name on its client list and may describe briefly, and in general terms, the nature of the work performed by the Contractor for the Commission.

36.11 Remedies Cumulative.

With the exception of liquidated damages, the rights and remedies of the Commission under this Contract are cumulative of one another and with those otherwise provided by Law or in equity.

36.12 No Waiver.

No waiver of any term, covenant or condition of this Contract shall be valid unless in writing and signed by the oblige Party. The exercise by a Party of any right or remedy provided under this Contract shall not waive or preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or remedy as such right or remedy is specifically allowed under this Contract. No waiver by any Party of any right or remedy under this Contract shall be deemed to be a waiver of any other or subsequent right or remedy under this Contract. The consent by one Party to any act by the other Party requiring such consent shall not be deemed to render unnecessary the obtaining of consent to any subsequent act for which consent is required, regardless of whether similar to the act for which consent is given. Except as provided otherwise in this Contract, no act, delay or omission done or permitted by one Party or its agents shall

be deemed to waive, exhaust or impair any right, remedy or power of such Party hereunder, or to relieve the other Party from the full performance of its obligations under this Contract. Either Party's waiver of any breach or failure to enforce any of the terms, covenants, conditions or other provisions of this Contract at any time shall not in any way limit or waive that Party's right thereafter to enforce or compel strict compliance with every term, covenant, condition or other provision, any course of dealing or custom of the trade notwithstanding.

36.13 Severability.

The invalidity or unenforceability of any clause, provision, section or part of this Contract shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the balance of this Contract, which shall be construed and enforced as if this Contract did not contain such invalid or unenforceable clause, provision, section or part.

36.14 Taxes.

Contractor will pay, prior to delinquency, all taxes lawfully imposed upon it that may arise with respect to this Contract.

36.15 No Third-Party Beneficiaries.

Except for the Indemnified Parties, nothing contained in this Contract shall be construed as conferring upon or giving to any person, other than the Parties hereto, any rights or benefits under or by reason of this Contract.

36.16 Headings.

The captions in this Contract are solely for convenience, and will not affect the interpretation of any terms of this Contract.

36.17 Counterparts.

The Parties may execute this Contract in counterparts.

36.18 Construction of Contract.

In the event this Contract must be interpreted by a court of competent jurisdiction as set forth in Section 36.9, the Parties expressly agree that this is a negotiated Contract that will not be construed against one Party over the other because such Party drafted this Contract.

36.19 Survival.

In addition to those provisions, which by their terms would naturally survive termination of this Contract, Sections 7.7, 9.7, 13, 14, 15, 16, 18, 19.9, 21,22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 28, 29, 32.3, 32.4, 33, 35, and 36 of this Contract shall survive the termination or expiration of this Contract, for whatever reason.

36.20 No Exclusivity.

This is a non-exclusive Contract. This Contract in no way precludes the Commission from obtaining like goods or services from other suppliers at any time. Such determination by the Commission shall be made at the sole discretion of the Commission as deemed to be in the best interest of the Commission and shall be conclusive.

36.21 Entire Contract: Amendment.

This Contract contains the entire agreement between the Parties with respect to its subject matter and supersedes all other prior and contemporaneous contracts and understandings between the Parties, whether oral or written, the Commission shall not be bound by any terms and conditions included in any packaging, invoice, catalog, brochure, technical data sheet, or other document prepared by the Contractor which attempts to impose any condition in variance with or in addition to the terms and conditions contained herein. No amendment to this Contract shall be valid unless made in writing and signed by both Parties.

36.22 Severability.

The provisions of the Contract will be deemed severable, and the unenforceability of any one or more provisions will not affect the enforceability of any other provisions. In addition, if any provision of the Contract, for any reason, is declared to be unenforceable, the parties will substitute an enforceable provision that, to the maximum extent possible under applicable law, preserves the original intentions and economic positions of the parties.

36.23 Interpretation of Agreement.

All terms and words used in this Contract, regardless of the number and gender in which they are used, shall be deemed and construed to include any other number, singular or plural, and any other gender, masculine, feminine, or neuter, as the context or sense of this Contract or any paragraph or clause in this Contract may require, the same as if such words have been fully and properly written in the number and gender. The headings of Articles and Paragraphs, to the extent used herein, are for reference only, and in no way define, limit or describe the scope or intent of any provision hereof. This Contract may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which, when so executed and delivered, shall be deemed an original, but such counterparts together shall constitute but one and the same instrument.

36.24 Authority.

Any act to be performed under the Contract by the "Commission" may be performed by the Executive Director or by such of its employees or such other persons, corporations or firms as the Executive Director may designate. "Executive Director" when used herein, shall refer to the Executive Director of the Commission and include the Director of Audit and Internal Control, the Deputy Executive Director and the CFO/Comptroller. The undersigned signatory for the Contractor hereby represents and warrants that he or she has full and complete authority to execute the Contract on behalf of the Contractor. This representation and warranty is made for the purpose of inducing the Commission to execute the Contract.

(SIGNATURE ON FOLLOWING PAGE)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Contract to be executed as of the date first above written.

	CONTRACTOR		OHIO TURNPIKE AND INFRASTRUCTURE COMMISSION
Ву:		Ву:	
Name:			Ferzan M. Ahmed, P.E. Executive Director
Title:			
			APPROVED AS TO FORM:
			General Counsel

APPENDIX A - SCOPE OF SERVICES

APPENDIX B - TECHNICAL PROPOSAL

APPENDIX C - PRICING SCHEDULE

APPENDIX D - PAYMENT MILESTONES

APPENDIX F - INSURANCE

The policies the Contractor and its Subcontractors maintain shall be with companies authorized to do business in Ohio and rated "A" or above by A.M. Best Company or equivalent and carry the following coverages and limits:

LIMITS BY LINE OF COVERAGE	SUB-CONTRACT AMOUNT	SUB- CONTRACT AMOUNT	SUB- CONTRACT AMOUNT	CONTRACTOR
	\$0 - \$1,000,000	\$1,000,001 - \$5,000,000	>\$5,000,001	
GENERAL LIABILITY				
Bodily Injury & Property Damage Limit	\$5,000,000	\$10,000,000	\$10,000,000	\$25,000,000
each occurrence				
Products/Completed Operations Annual Aggregate	\$5,000,000	\$10,000,000	\$10,000,000	\$25,000,000
Personal & Advertising Injury	\$5,000,000	\$10,000,000	\$10,000,000	\$25,000,000
General Annual Aggregate	\$5,000,000	\$10,000,000	\$10,000,000	\$25,000,000
AUTO LIABILITY				
Annual Combined Single Limit – Bodily Injury, Property Damage	\$5,000,000	\$10,000,000	\$10,000,000	\$25,000,000
WORKERS' COMPENSATION				
PART ONE – WORKERS' COMPENSATION	Statutory	Statutory	Statutory	Statutory
PART TWO - EMPLOYERS LIABILITY				
Bodily injury by accident, each accident	\$5,000,000	\$5,000,000	\$10,000,000	\$25,000,000
Bodily injury by disease, each employee	\$5,000,000	\$5,000,000	\$10,000,000	\$25,000,000
Bodily injury by disease, annual policy aggregate	\$5,000,000	\$5,000,000	\$10,000,000	\$25,000,000

	1			1
CONTRACTORS POLLUTION LIABILITY				
Bodily Injury & Property Damage,	\$2,000,000	\$2,000,000	\$2,000,000	\$2,000,000
Third-Party Claims, each occurrence				
Bodily Injury & Property Damage,	\$2,000,000	\$2,000,000	\$2,000,000	\$2,000,000
Third-Party Claims, annual aggregate				
Clean-up, Response, & Remediation On-Site,	\$2,000,000	\$2,000,000	\$2,000,000	\$2,000,000
each occurrence				
Clean-up, Response, & Remediation Off-Site,	\$2,000,000	\$2,000,000	\$2,000,000	\$2,000,000
each occurrence				
PROFESSIONAL (ERRORS and OMISSIONS) LIABILITY				
Per Claim	\$1,000,000	\$2,000,000	\$5,000,000	\$10,000,000
Annual Aggregate	\$1,000,000	\$2,000,000	\$5,000,000	\$10,000,000
PRIVACY AND NETWORK SECURITY BREACH LIABILITY (CYBER LIABILITY)	\$2,000,000	\$5,000,000	\$10,000,000	\$10,000,000
Network Protection	\$2,000,000	\$5,000,000	\$10,000,000	\$10,000,000
Theft, loss, or corruption of data	\$2,000,000	\$5,000,000	\$10,000,000	\$10,000,000
Cyber extortion	\$2,000,000	\$5,000,000	\$10,000,000	\$10,000,000
Network security breach liability, denial of service	\$2,000,000	\$5,000,000	\$10,000,000	\$10,000,000
Regulatory action defense and fines/penalties	\$2,000,000	\$5,000,000	\$10,000,000	\$10,000,000
Privacy liability, notification expense, credit monitoring expense and public relations expense	\$2,000,000	\$5,000,000	\$10,000,000	\$10,000,000

1. <u>General Liability Insurance</u>. On an occurrence coverage basis (including without limitation, bodily injury, personal injury and advertising injury, property damage, broad form property damage, and broad-form contractual liability arising from or relating to this Project, coverage as respects independent contractors, operating mobile equipment, products and completed operations, explosion, collapse and underground hazards) of not less than the limits in the chart above.

General Liability, Umbrella/Excess limits of liability (including products/completed operations coverage) shall apply on a per-project basis, and such General Liability, Auto Liability, and Umbrella/Excess coverage shall include, without limitation, a waiver of subrogation in favor of the additional insureds. The General Liability insurance limit and Auto Liability insurance limit requirements may be satisfied by the purchase and maintenance of any combination of primary, Excess and/or Umbrella insurance.

- 2. <u>Auto Liability Insurance</u>. Owned, Non-owned and Hired Automobile Liability coverage minimum combined single limit, bodily injury and property damage, not less than the limits in the chart above. Such insurance shall cover and include liability arising from all vehicles owned by, hired by, or used by or on behalf of Contractor. The coverage must be endorsed with ISO Form CA 99 48, or a substitute form providing equivalent coverage, to include without limitation, coverage respecting liability arising out of the transporting, loading or unloading of hazardous materials, hazardous waste, or hazardous chemicals.
- 3. <u>Workers' Compensation</u>. With statutory limits. Employers Liability with limits of not less than the limits in the chart above. The Employers Liability insurance requirement may be satisfied by including such coverage within the General Liability policy.
- 4. Contractor Pollution Liability. If services performed or provided include activities that could result in or give rise to a contamination or pollution incident, or a release of Hazardous Materials, then Contractor shall purchase and maintain in force, or cause to be purchased and maintained in force, insurance covering loss and liability arising out of or relating to such performance of services. Insurance shall cover and include claims alleging bodily injury, property damage, or clean-up which shall include investigation, response, removal, remediation and neutralization of the pollution condition for both on and off site claims or to any other location to which Hazardous Materials were transported from the Project site with limits not less than the limits in the chart above. Contractors Pollution Liability insurance may be written on a claims-made basis provided such policy shall either (a) be renewed annually for a period of not fewer than ten (10) years after substantial completion of the services under this Request for Proposal with substantially the same terms and conditions or (b) include an extended reporting period endorsement or clause providing not less than ten (10) years within which a claim may be made under the policy respecting performance of the services; the retroactive date of any insurance policy required herein that is issued on a claims-made basis shall coincide with or precede the commencement of this Request for Proposal, whether such insurance is existing, renewed or replaced; the cost for such ten (10) year period shall be borne exclusively by Contractor; provided further that if such insurance is written on a claims-made basis then the per occurrence limits stated above shall apply per incident; limits of liability shall apply on a per-project basis, if commercially feasible.
- 5. <u>Professional Liability (Errors and Omissions) Insurance</u>: Contractor shall purchase and maintain in force, or cause to be purchased and maintained in force, Professional Liability

insurance (including contractual liability coverage) covering liability and damages arising out of or resulting from the acts, errors, omissions, or professional services rendered, or which should have been rendered, pursuant to this Request for Proposal, with limits of liability of not less than the limits in the chart above. Professional Liability insurance may be written on a claims-made basis provided such policy shall either (a) be renewed annually for a period of not fewer than ten (10) years after substantial completion of the services under this Request for Proposal with substantially the same terms and conditions or (b) include an extended reporting period endorsement or clause providing not less than ten (10) years within which a claim may be made under the policy respecting the performance of services; the retroactive date of any insurance policy required herein that is issued on a claims-made basis shall coincide with or precede the commencement of this Request for Proposal, whether such insurance is existing, renewed or replaced; the cost of coverage for such ten (10) year period shall be borne exclusively by Contractor; and if commercially feasible, limits of liability shall apply on a per-project basis with a designated limit applying to the Project site.

- 6. <u>Privacy and Network Security Liability (Cyber Liability)</u>. Contractor shall purchase and maintain in force, or cause to be purchased and maintained in force, Privacy and Network Security Liability (Cyber Liability) with limits of liability of not less than \$10,000,000 each claim or incident alleging a wrongful act, liability, loss, or damage including coverage for network protection, theft, loss, or corruption of data, cyber extortion, denial of service, network security breach liability, regulatory action defense and fines/penalties, privacy liability, notification expense, credit monitoring expense and public relations expense.
- 7. Riggers Liability. If services performed or provided include activities that could include the use or operation of a crane or any other device or piece of equipment by which materials or equipment, or the movement of property, are rigged, hoisted, lowered, elevated, raised, loaded or unloaded, then Contractor shall purchase and maintain in force, or cause to be purchased and maintained in force insurance covering damage or loss to such property or equipment, with a limit of liability of not less than the purchase price of the most expensive device or piece of equipment that may be rigged, hoisted, lowered, elevated, raised, loaded or unloaded; such coverage shall include a limit for liability arising from any consequential or indirect losses including without limitation, any delay or loss of use claim.
- 8. Railroad Protective Liability. If work involves construction or demolition operations at or near railroad property (i.e., within fifty (50) feet of such property), Contractor shall purchase and maintain in force Railroad Protective Liability covering liability and damages arising out of or resulting from Contractor's or its subcontractor's work rendered, or which should have been rendered, in relation to this Request for Proposal, with limits of liability of not less than \$2,000,000 per claim, \$4,000,000 annual aggregate. Such limits of liability shall apply separately for each annual period for all damages arising out of bodily injuries to or death of one or more persons and all damages arising out of injury to or destruction of property. The railroad authority shall be the named insured under the Railroad Protective Liability insurance. Such policy shall be written using ISO Form Number CG 00 35 01 07 98 and Pollution Exclusion Amendment Form CG 28 31 07 98, or other form(s) providing equivalent coverage. Such coverage shall be purchased and maintained for so long as required by the railroad authority and may be satisfied by a standalone policy or by endorsement to the General Liability policy.

EXHIBIT A – BILL OF SALE

1	This	Bill	of	Sale	is	made			day n favo		-				•
Infrast	tructure	Comr	nissi	on (the	"Corr	missior	- `	,,						•	
assigr	t and a	adequa	acy o	uable co of which eys, gra e goods	n Sel ınts, l	ler here pargain	eby acs	knowle delivers	edges, s to the	Selle	r her	eby iri	revo	cably	
claims	s, free s, secui ommiss	and cl	ear o	s and w of all ends, and li all warra	cumb ens d	rances of any k	, debts ind; a	s, morte nd (2) \$	gages, Seller h	attac as th	hmer e righ	nts, ple nt to se	edges	s, cha e Goo	rges ds to
	Seller	transf	fers a	ıll warra	nties	coverir	ng the	Goods							
ackno furthe be rea and co	and from whether acts, asonable on firm to the continuous continuo	om time, and of assign by requunto a	ie to delive iment ired t nd ve	nd its su time of er or causes, trans by the Co est in the asferred	on the use to sfers, Comm e Co	e Composite Conveyonission in the conveyonistic conveyonission in the conveyonistic conv	missio ne, ex vances n orde on and	n's wri ecuted, , powe er to ass its suc	tten re acknowns rs of atsign, tra	ques wledo torne ansfe	t, Se ged, a ey, an r, set	ller wind de d assu	ill do livere uranc conv	o, execed, all ces as rey, as:	cute such may sure
agains		_		right to s and de					ırrant, ir	ndem	nnify a	ınd de	fend	the rig	jht
extent	o, Unite such p	ed Sta rincipl	tes of es or	s gover f Americ rules w State of	ca[, w ould i	rithout r	egard	to the	conflict	of lav	ws pro	ovision	ns the	ereof to	o the
above		has d	luly e	xecuted	l and	deliver	ed this	Bill of	Sale as	of th	ne dat	e first	abov	ve writ	ten
Name	:														
Title:															

EXHIBIT B - ESCROW AGREEMENT

This ESCROW AGREEMENT (the " Escrow Agreement") is made and entered into this
day of, 2020 ("Effective Date"), by and among
("Contractor"), and the Ohio Turnpike and Infrastructure Commission
(the "Commission"), and (" Escrow Agent",
together with the Commission and Contractor, collectively referred to as the "Parties" and each
individually as a " <i>Party</i> ").
Contractor and the Commission entered into that certain Toll Collection System
Implementation and Maintenance Contract, dated,, 2020 (the "Contract"),
and the Parties are entering into this Escrow Agreement as required under Section 23 of the
Contract.

Now, therefore, in consideration thereof, the mutual promises and covenants contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto, intending to be legally bound agree as follows:

1. <u>Definitions</u>. All capitalized term and abbreviations used in this Escrow Agreement, but not expressly defined herein, have the respective meanings set forth in the Contract.

2. Appointment of Escrow Agent.

- 2.1. Fee. Escrow Agent shall receive a fee for its services payable by Contractor annually in accordance with the fee schedule attached hereto as Appendix A (the "Service Fees"), due and payable on execution hereof and on each anniversary of such date so long as this Escrow Agreement is in effect. All Service Fees are due within thirty (30) calendar days from the date of invoice in U.S. currency and are non-refundable. Escrow Agent may update the Service Fees with a ninety (90) calendar day written notice to Contractor during the term of this Escrow Agreement; providing, however, in the event any such update results in a material increase in Services Fees, as determined in Contractor's discretion, Contractor and the Commission may upon written agreement replace Escrow Agent with another escrow agent. Contractor is liable for any taxes related specifically to services provided under this Escrow Agreement or shall present to Escrow Agent an exemption certificate acceptable to the taxing authorities. Applicable taxes shall be billed as a separate item on the invoice. Contractor and the Commission agree that if this Escrow Agreement terminates during the term for any reason, other than for the fault of Escrow Agent, all prepaid fees shall be non-refundable, except to the extent termination results from a material increase in Service Fees as provided herein. Any Service Fees not collected by Escrow Agent when due shall bear interest until paid at a rate of one percent (1%) per month (12% per annum) or the maximum rate permitted by law, whichever is less. Notwithstanding the nonperformance of any obligations of Contractor to deliver the Contractor deposited Intellectual Property (as set forth in the Contract), Escrow Agent shall nevertheless be entitled to be paid all Service Fees that accrue while this Escrow Agreement is in effect.
- 2.2 (a) <u>Term</u>. The term of this Escrow Agreement shall commence as of the Effective Date, and shall continue in effect until a Release (as defined below) occurs as

provided in Section 4 hereof, or until this Escrow Agreement is otherwise terminated as provided herein. Unless the Contractor Deposited Software (as defined below) held in escrow has been released to the Commission, upon termination of this Escrow Agreement, Escrow Agent shall return to the Contractor the deposited Intellectual Property. If reasonable attempts to return the deposited Intellectual Property to Contractor are unsuccessful, Escrow Agent shall destroy the deposited Intellectual Property.

- (b) Termination for Nonpayment. In the event of the nonpayment of undisputed Service Fees owed to Escrow Agent, Escrow Agent shall provide all Parties written notice of Escrow Agent's intent to terminate this Escrow Agreement. Either the Commission or Contractor shall have the right to pay any unpaid Service Fees to Escrow Agent to cure a payment default. If the past due payment is not received in full by Escrow Agent within thirty (30) calendar days of the date of such written notice, then Escrow Agent shall have the right to terminate this Escrow Agreement at any time thereafter by sending written notice to all Parties. Termination of this Escrow Agreement shall not relieve any Party of any payment obligation arising hereunder.
- 3. Conditions. The conditions of this escrow are as follows:
 - Deposit. Contractor shall deposit the Contractor deposited Intellectual Property 3.1 ("Contractor Deposited Software") with an accurate and complete description of all Contractor Deposited Software sent to Escrow Agent for the use and benefit of the Commission. The Contractor Deposited Software delivered to Escrow Agent shall consist of technical data, including source code, software, Enhancements (as defined and described in Section 23 of the Contract) sufficient to allow the Commission to run and maintain Contractor Deposited Software and the Toll Collection System software itself or to retain a third party to do so on the Commission's behalf. Escrow Agent shall have the obligation to implement and maintain safeguards designed to protect the confidentiality of the Contractor Deposited Software. Escrow Agent shall treat the Contractor Deposited Software as confidential and proprietary information, and shall not, except as expressly permitted in this Escrow Agreement or with written consent of the Parties hereto, at any time use or disclose the Contractor Deposited Software except to the extent necessary to carry out the intent of this Escrow Agreement and the Contract. To the extent Escrow Agent is required by a court or other governmental body to disclose or provide the Contractor Deposited Software or any information relating thereto to any such third party, Escrow Agent will immediately notify Contractor and the Commission of the same, unless prohibited by law. After notifying the Parties, Escrow Agent may comply in good faith with any such order. Escrow Agent shall be under no obligation to challenge any such order; provided, however, Escrow Agent does not waive its rights to challenge any such order. Escrow Agent will cooperate with Contractor or the Commission, as applicable, to support efforts to quash or limit any subpoena, at such Party's expense. Any party requesting additional assistance shall pay Escrow Agent's standard charges or as quoted upon submission or a detailed request.
 - 3.2 <u>Representations</u>. Contractor represents that the Contractor Deposited Software is and shall at all times contain a duplicate of the Contractor Deposited Software described in the Contract, as such may be updated or modified from time to time. Contractor shall completely and accurately identify each item delivered to Escrow

Agent using the form attached hereto as Appendix B, and certify that the Contractor Deposited Software is the same as what is described under the Contract and that the Contractor Deposited Software is not "copy protected" and can be copied onto magnetic media for use as permitted by this Escrow Agreement and the Contract. Contractor represents that it lawfully possesses all Contractor Deposited Software provided to Escrow Agent under this Escrow Agreement and that any Contractor Deposited Software liens or encumbrances will not prohibit limit, or alter the rights and obligations of Escrow Agent under this Escrow Agreement. Contractor warrants that with respect to the Contractor Deposited Software, Escrow Agent's proper administration of this Escrow Agreement will not violate the rights of any third parties. Escrow Agent will conduct a visual inspection upon receipt of any Contractor Deposited Software and associated Appendix B. If Escrow Agent determines that the Contractor Deposited Software does not match the description provided by Contractor represented in Appendix B attached hereto, Escrow Agent will notify Contractor of such discrepancies and notate such discrepancy on the Appendix B. Within five (5) days after receipt of the Contractor Deposited Software, Escrow Agent shall give the Commission written notice of the acceptance of the Contractor Deposited Software into the account. Escrow Agent shall have no responsibility to test, investigate or authenticate such Contractor Deposited Software, its identity or condition, and is entitled to rely upon the foregoing representation of Contractor:

3.3 Updates. Contractor shall, promptly upon, but no later than one month after, development or the release thereof, deposit into escrow with Escrow Agent any and all Enhancements, updates, modifications, new releases and other changes and corrections to the Contractor Deposited Software, including, but not limited to, the most recent version of the Contractor Deposited Software, and those other materials as herein required inspection. the Commission shall have the right to inspect the Contractor Deposited Software in escrow upon at least ten (10) Business Days' advance written notice to determine the accuracy, completeness, sufficiency and quality of the Contractor Deposited Software deposited in escrow. The inspection must be conducted during normal business hours with costs and expenses borne by the Party requesting the inspection. The information collected during the audit shall be considered Confidential Information, but may be used to enforce rights under this Escrow Agreement or the Contract. The scope of any such inspection shall be limited to records pertaining to the services being provided to Contractor or the Commission. Neither Contractor nor the Commission shall be granted access to the vault or other secure areas of the Escrow Agent's facility. While a Party and/or its authorized representatives are on Escrow Agent's premises, they agree to comply with Escrow Agent's safety and security policies. To the extent the deposit is incomplete or unsatisfactory as determined by the Commission, the Commission shall notify Contractor of such deficiencies or incompleteness, and Contractor shall promptly cure such deficiencies and/or inaccuracies.

4. Release and Delivery.

4.1 Release of the Contractor Deposited Software by Escrow Agent upon Demand. A copy of the Contractor Deposited Software shall be delivered by Escrow Agent to the Commission (the "Release") upon the occurrence of any of the following:

- (a) Contractor notifies Escrow Agent in writing to effect Release to the Commission;
- (b) Escrow Agent receives a written notice from the Commission that one of the following has occurred:
 - (1) the dissolution, liquidation, cessation of business operations or insolvency of Contractor, or the commencement of any action seeking the same;
 - (2) the appointment of a receiver, trustee, interim trustee or other custodian for Contractor or for all or substantially all of Contractor's assets;
 - (3) the commencement of a case by Contractor under the Federal Bankruptcy Code, or the bringing of an action or petition by Contractor seeking relief under the Federal Bankruptcy Code or seeking similar relief or alleging that Contractor is insolvent or unable to pay its debts as they mature;
 - (4) the commencement of a case against Contractor under the Federal Bankruptcy Code, or an action or petition against Contractor is brought under the Federal Bankruptcy Code, or any action is brought seeking similar relief or alleging that Contractor Is insolvent or unable to pay its debts as they mature, in each case which is consented to or acquiesced in by Contractor or is not dismissed within 30 days of the date upon which it was instituted; or
 - (5) the Contract is terminated for breach by the Contractor or an Event of Default occurs under the Contract (all as provided therein).

The Parties hereby acknowledge that Escrow Agent shall release Contractor Deposited Software within five (5) business days of receipt of the Commission's request for a Release, and in no event be required to evaluate the validity or accuracy of any such affidavit, statement, or notice.

- 4.2 <u>Contractor's Right to Object</u>. Within four (4) business days of receiving notice of any of the events described in Section 4.1 above, Escrow Agent shall send to Contractor by certified mail, return receipt requested, a copy of such notice (to the extent possible). Contractor shall have ten (10) days from the date it receives such notice to notify Escrow Agent and the Commission in writing of its objection, if any, to the Release. Such notice shall be on company letterhead and signed by an authorized Contractor representative, and shall specify in detail Contractor's objections to the Release.
 - (a) If Contractor sends such written notice of objection to Escrow Agent within such ten (10) day period, Escrow Agent shall notify both Contractor's and the Commission's authorized person(s) (as set forth on the table attached hereto) that there is a dispute to be resolved.
 - (b) Notwithstanding Contractor's objection, Escrow Agent shall deliver the Contractor Deposited Software to the Commission in accordance with the Commission's instructions, and the Commission shall be entitled to use and

- enjoy the Contractor Deposited Software for the purposes permitted herein and in the Contract.
- (c) This Escrow Agreement shall terminate upon a Release, unless there Is an ongoing dispute pursuant to this Escrow Agreement. If there is an ongoing dispute after a Release, this Escrow Agreement shall remain active, pending (i) notice to Escrow Agent of agreement by the Parties of formal resolution of the dispute between the Commission and Contractor, or (ii) re-deposit of the Contractor Deposited Software with Escrow Agent, provided all Service Fees continue to be paid to Escrow Agent by Contractor.
- (d) If it is agreed or finally determined that the Commission did not have the right to receive the Contractor Deposited Software from Escrow Agent, the Commission shall return the Contractor Deposited Software to Escrow Agent, and the Commission and Contractor shall continue to have any and all rights then available under the Contract.
- (e) In the event of re-deposit of the Contractor Deposited Software by the Commission after Release, the Commission agrees to be subject to the terms of this Escrow Agreement.
- In the event the Contractor Deposited Software is returned to Escrow Agent in accordance with the terms of this Escrow Agreement, then Contractor and the Commission acknowledge and agree that Escrow Agent shall have no liability for any claim in connection with the Contractor Deposited Software arising after Release of the Contractor Deposited Software by Escrow Agent to the Commission and prior to return of the Contractor Deposited Software to Escrow Agent to the extent such Release was not a result of a breach of this Escrow Agreement or violation of applicable laws. Escrow Agent shall have no liability in connection with any alteration, modification, loss, damage, destruction or disclosure of the Contractor Deposited Software that occurs after Escrow Agent releases the Contractor Deposited Software to the Commission to the extent such release was not a result of a breach of this Escrow Agreement or violation of applicable laws.
- 5. <u>Escrow Agent Action.</u> In the event of any dispute between Contractor and the Commission regarding the rights provided hereunder, Escrow Agent shall have no responsibility to become a party to such dispute. In any such instance, Escrow Agent shall not be responsible for any alleged damage suffered or claimed either by Contractor or the Commission as a result of their dispute or as a result of Escrow Agent delivering the Contractor Deposited Software to the Commission.
- 6. Notices. All notices and requests in connection with this Escrow Agreement shall be provided in accordance with, and upon those terms and conditions as described in, the applicable provisions of the Contract, and notices to Escrow Agent shall be to:

 _______. Notwithstanding the above, Contractor and the Commission acknowledge that Escrow Agent has no knowledge of the terms and conditions contained In the Contract and that Escrow Agent's only obligations shall be as set forth herein or in any other writing signed by Escrow Agent.

7. Limitations and Warranties.

- 7.1 Liability of Escrow Agent Consequential Waiver. IN NO EVENT SHALL ESCROW AGENT BE LIABLE TO ANOTHER PARTY FOR ANY INCIDENTAL, SPECIAL, PUNITIVE OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, WHETHER ARISING IN CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE EVEN IF THE POSSIBILITY THEREOF MAY BE KNOWN IN ADVANCE TO ONE OR MORE PARTIES.
- 7.2 Warranties. ESCROW AGENT WARRANTS ANY AND All SERVICES PROVIDED HEREUNDER SHALL BE PERFORMED IN A WORKMANLIKE MANNER.
- 7.3 Indemnification. With the exception of gross negligence, willful misconduct or intentional misrepresentation on behalf of Escrow Agent, Contractor and the Commission shall, jointly and severally, indemnify and hold harmless Escrow Agent and each of its directors, officers, agents, employees, members and stockholders ("Escrow Agent Indemnitees") from and against any and all claims, actions, damages, suits, liabilities, obligations, costs, fees, charges, and any other expenses whatsoever, including reasonable attorneys' fees directly arising from this Agreement.

8. Miscellaneous

- 8.1 The relationship of Contractor and the Commission established by this Escrow Agreement is that of independent contractors. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to create any partnership, joint venture, agency or other similar relationship between Contractor and the Commission. Neither party shall have any right, power or authority to assume, create or incur any expense, liability or obligation, express or implied, on behalf of the other.
- 8.2 No failure or delay of either party to exercise any rights or remedies under this Escrow Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any rights or remedies preclude any further or other exercise of the same or any other rights or remedies.
- 8.3 If any provision of this Escrow Agreement is held invalid or unenforceable in any circumstance by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remainder of this Escrow Agreement, and the application of such provision in any other circumstances and in any other jurisdiction shall not be affected thereby.
- 8.4 This Escrow Agreement will be enforced according to Ohio law without regard to its conflict of laws rules or any other rules directing referral to foreign law or forums.

 Any action related to this agreement in any way shall be brought exclusively in the

 ______ Court of ______ County, Ohio.
- 8.5 This Escrow Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts.
- 8.6 This Escrow Agreement and the terms of the Contract constitute the entire agreement of the parties regarding the subject matter herein, superseding any and all previous agreements and understandings whether oral or written. No

modification or waiver of the provisions of this Escrow Agreement shall be valid or binding on either party unless in writing and signed by both parties.

[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Escrow Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

THE OHIO TURNPIKE AND INFRASTRUCTURE COMMISSION

y:	
ame:	
itle:	_
ontractor:	
y:	
ame:	
itle:	_
scrow Agent:	
y:	
ame:	
itle:	

EXHIBIT C – CONTRACTOR'S NON-COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT OHIO TURNPIKE AND INFRASTRUCTURE COMMISSION

State	e or			}			
Cou	nty of			} S :	S :		
The	undersigne	d, being first duly sw	orn as provided	by law, d	leposes and	says:	
1. and	Their n their office	name isis located at				·	
said	pike and Ir Commissio	ake this Affidavit with frastructure Commis on as consideration a panying this Affidavit	ssion and with tand any action	he expec	tation that it	will be relied up	on by
3.	The	undersigned	serves	in	the	capacity	0
			·	Sole Owr	ner, Partner,	President, etc.	
of: ——	·	acity makes and auth Full Legal Na	me of Contract				
a		orship, Partnership, (_ organiz	zed under the	e laws of	,
and	registered t	o do business with th	ne Ohio Secreta	ry of Stat	e		
	ırate list of	oprietorship Only: The names and addrinder the bid or propo	esses of all inc	lividuals h	naving an in		
inter inclu	of the name est in the ding any pa	ship Only: The unders of the general par contract contemplate artners with a five persist if necessary	tners of the pa ed under the b rcent (5%) or m	rtnership id or prop nore equit	and all othe posal accon y interest in	r individuals havin panying this Aff the partnership (ing ar idavit

accompanyi		it, includi	ng any	one owning f	ive percent	(5%)	or more	id or proposal equity interests
President (o	r similar chief e	executive	e):					
Owners with	n 5% or more e	quity inte	erest: _					
Additional contract:	individuals	with	an	expected	interest	in	the	contemplated

Corporation or Limited Liability Company Only: The undersigned states that the

following is a complete and accurate list of the chief executive officer and all individuals that are

4c.

- 5. The undersigned represents that no person, firm, agent or employee of the entity identified in paragraph 3, nor anyone else to the knowledge of the undersigned, has retained anyone to solicit or secure affirmative or favorable action by the Commission with respect to the bid or proposal accompanying this Affidavit (except a regularly employed salesman paid for services on a regular schedule of commissions and serving in the usual course of business in soliciting such consideration or action by the Commission without promise or expectation of receiving consideration other than the standard and normal fee, commission, or percentage) under any agreement providing for a bonus, fee, commission, percentage, or other form of payment whatsoever which is in any way contingent upon the action to be taken by the Commission with respect to the bid or proposal.
- 6. The undersigned represents that no person or firm associated with the entity identified in paragraph 3 has any interest, direct or indirect, in any other proposal or bid submitted with respect to the contract contemplated in the bid or proposal accompanying this Affidavit, except the subcontractors, material suppliers, truckers/haulers disclosed in the SBE Utilization Plan.
- 7. The undersigned states that the bid or proposal accompanying this Affidavit is a genuine and earnest attempt to contract with the Commission, and is not made in the interest or on behalf of any undisclosed individual, person, partnership, company, association, organization or corporation; that the bid or proposal is not collusive or a sham; that the entity identified in paragraph 3 has not, directly or indirectly, induced or solicited any other entity to submit a false or sham bid or proposal, and has not directly or indirectly, colluded, conspired, connived or agreed with any other respondent to submit a collusive or sham bid or proposal, or to refrain from submitting a bid or proposal; and has not in any manner, directly or indirectly, sought by agreement or collusion, or communication or conference with any person, firm or corporation, to fix the prices of any other responding entity, or to secure any advantage against the Commission or any person, firm or corporation interested in the proposed contract;
- 8. The undersigned states that the entity identified in paragraph 3 has received the Commission's Ethics Policy; the Ethics Policy has been reviewed by its managerial staff; the terms

and conditions of the Policy are understood; and the entity agrees to comply and assist the Commission in complying with the Policy. Insofar as undersigned knows, no member of the Commission and no employee or agent of the Commission has or will have any interest, either direct or indirect, in the prospective contract contemplated under the bid or proposal accompanying this Affidavit.

	Affiant	
	Printed	
Sworn to before me and subscr	ibed in my presence thisday of	, 20
	Notary Public	